Chemical Research in To<u>xicology</u>



DNA Adducts from Anticancer Drugs as Candidate Predictive Markers for Precision Medicine

Alessia Stornetta,[†][®] Maike Zimmermann,^{‡,§} George D. Cimino,[§] Paul T. Henderson,^{‡,§} and Shana J. Sturla^{*,†}

[†]Department of Health Sciences and Technology, ETH Zurich, Schmelzbergstrasse 9, 8092 Zurich, Switzerland [‡]Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology and Oncology and the UC Davis Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California Davis, 4501 X Street, Sacramento, California 95655, United States

[§]Accelerated Medical Diagnostics, Inc., 2121 Second Street, B101, Davis, California 95618, United States



ABSTRACT: Biomarker-driven drug selection plays a central role in cancer drug discovery and development, and in diagnostic strategies to improve the use of traditional chemotherapeutic drugs. DNA-modifying anticancer drugs are still used as first line medication, but drawbacks such as resistance and side effects remain an issue. Monitoring the formation and level of DNA modifications induced by anticancer drugs is a potential strategy for stratifying patients and predicting drug efficacy. In this perspective, preclinical and clinical data concerning the relationship between drug-induced DNA adducts and biological response for platinum drugs and combination therapies, nitrogen mustards and half-mustards, hypoxia-activated drugs, reductase-activated drugs, and minor groove binding agents are presented and discussed. Aspects including measurement strategies, identification of adducts, and biological factors that influence the predictive relationship between DNA modification and biological response are addressed. A positive correlation between DNA adduct levels and response was observed for the majority of the studies, demonstrating the high potential of using DNA adducts from anticancer drugs as mechanism-based biomarkers of susceptibility, especially as bioanalysis approaches with higher sensitivity and throughput emerge.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	388
1.1. Precision Medicine in Cancer Chemotherapy	388
1.2. Formation and Relevance of DNA Adducts	
from Anticancer Drugs	390
1.3. Measuring DNA Adducts	390
1.3.1. Radiolabeling and ³² P-Postlabeling	391
1.3.2. Immunoassay	391
1.3.3. Mass Spectrometry	392
1.4. Overview of Preclinical and Clinical Evidence	
of DNA Adducts Related with Response	394
2. Platinum Drugs and Combination Therapies	394
3. Nitrogen Mustards and Half-Mustards	397
4. Hypoxia-Activated Prodrugs	398
5. Reductase-Activated Drugs	400
6. Minor-Groove Binding Agents	401
7. Concluding Remarks and Future Perspectives	402
Author Information	403
Corresponding Author	403
ORCID	403

Funding	403
Notes	403
Biographies	403
Acknowledgments	403
Abbreviations	403
References	404

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Precision Medicine in Cancer Chemotherapy. Selecting a cancer treatment according to physiological characteristics of the disease, such as the organ where the cancer is present, is an approach that views cancer as a homogeneous disease and has become outdated as a result of deeper understanding gained in the past decades regarding the biology and molecular heterogeneity of cancers.^{1–3} This

Special Issue: CRT30

Received: October 12, 2016 Published: December 12, 2016





Figure 1. Shifting the focus of cancer therapy by implementation of biomarkers in precision medicine.

Table 1. Biomarkers Used in Modern Cancer Therapy^a

biomarker category	definition	example(s)
susceptibility/risk	indicates the potential for developing a disease or medical condition or sensitivity to exposure in an individual without clinical apparent disease or medical condition	BRACA1/2 mutations for breast cancer, infection with certain HPV subtypes for cervical cancer
diagnostic	identifies individuals with the disease or condition of interest or to define a subset of the disease	blood sugar or HbA1c to identify diabetes mellitus, serum creatinine, or GFR to identify patients with kidney failure
monitoring	used to detect a change in the degree or extent of disease; may be also used to indicate toxicity or assess safety, or to provide evidence of exposure (including medical products)	PSA when assessing patients with prostate cancer to evaluate disease status of burden
prognostic	used to identify likelihood of a clinical event, disease recurrence, or progression	BRCA1/2 to evaluate likelihood of a second breast cancer, PSA to assess likelihood of cancer progression
predictive	used to identify individuals who are more likely than similar patients without the biomarker to experience a favorable or unfavorable effect from a specific intervention or exposure	DNA adducts
pharmacodynamic/ response	used to show that a biological response has occurred in an individual who has received an intervention or exposure	INR when evaluating a patient's response to warfarin treatment
safety	used to indicate the presence or extent of toxicity related to an intervention or exposure	hepatic aminotransferases when evaluating hepatotoxicity

"Abbreviations: HPV, human papilloma virus; BRCA1/2, breast cancer genes 1 and 2; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; INR, international normalized ratio; PSA, prostate specific antigen.

paradigm shift means that patients with the same type of cancer may have different genetic alterations in their tumors that may explain why patients with phenotypically similar cancers may respond to or resist differently the same anticancer treatment.³ Thus, cancer therapy is undergoing a major shift from one size fits all to precision, patient-oriented personalized approaches. In the future, genetic defects and metabolic features in an individual cancer will drive treatment selection (Figure 1).³

Precision chemotherapy is supported by the discovery, development, and validation of biomarkers. These measurable chemical or molecular indicators of biological processes or pharmacological responses can inform therapeutic strategy.^{3,4} Clinicians use biomarkers to identify target patient populations, to predict drug efficacy and patient response, resistance, and toxicity, and to stratify patients on the basis of their likelihood to respond to a particular therapy.⁵ In general, biomarkers can be divided into seven categories: susceptibility/risk, diagnostic,

monitoring, prognostic, predictive, pharmacodynamics/response, and safety (Table 1). Of particular interest in the context of precision cancer chemotherapy are predictive biomarkers, which are used to identify individuals who are more likely than similar patients lacking the biomarker to experience a favorable or unfavorable effect from a specific intervention or exposure.

Knowledge of biomarker levels can inform clinicians regarding which drugs to administer. In cancer therapy, typically a two- or three-drug cocktail is used that covers different molecular targets, reducing the risk of clonal selection based upon cell resistance to a single drug. Drugs that directly modify DNA bases or form cross-links in DNA such as platinum-based or nitrogen mustard drugs are often used as a component of cancer drug combinations, with proven effectiveness in eliminating cancer during their more than 60 years of use.^{6–9} The main mechanism of toxicity for the

anticancer activity of DNA damaging agents involves the induction of DNA modifications^{7,8} that interfere with replication, an overactive process in rapidly dividing cancer cells. Drawbacks of the DNA damage strategy is the possibility for developing resistance, and the high rate of side effects caused by damaging DNA or possibly other critical biomolecules in nontarget cells.⁷ In the paradigm of precision medicine, the advent of DNA damaging drug-specific biomarkers is anticipated as a tool for stratifying patients and identifying factors directly relevant to cellular DNA damage that may be exploited for improving chemotherapy with DNA-modifying drugs.

There are three exposure scenarios that can be envisioned for monitoring DNA adducts as predictive markers for DNA damaging cancer drugs. The first involves patients undergoing a first round of chemotherapy, and biological samples such as tumor biopsy, circulating tumor cells (CTCs), and surrogate tissues, are collected and analyzed to reflect actual levels of adducts formed in vivo at therapeutic doses. A second scenario involves treating patients with a microdose of the DNA alkylating drug and collecting peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or tumor biopsy for adduct analysis. Finally, a third scenario involves ex-vivo exposure of cancerous or normal surrogate cells to the drug, and evaluating adduct formation. Difficulties associated with using DNA adducts as predictive markers centers on the fact that they are present at extremely low-abundance making isolation from complex matrices such as blood, tissues, and urine, and their subsequent detection very challenging.

Research addressing the relationship between DNA adduct levels and the sensitivity of cells grown in culture, animal models, or cancer patients has been explored over the past 30 years (summarized in Tables 3 and 4). In this perspective, we focus on progress regarding establishing an understanding of the relationship between DNA damage and cellular responses to drugs, and the feasibility of using DNA adducts as predictive biomarkers in cancer chemotherapy. We consider preclinical and clinical data concerning DNA damaging drugs that have been used in cancer chemotherapy for decades, such as platinum drugs and nitrogen mustards, as well as experimental drugs that have undergone or may soon enter clinical evaluation, such as acylfulvenes and hypoxia-activated prodrugs. An inclusion criterion for the examples presented herein was the availability of data aiming to define a relationship between adduct formation and cellular responses to the drug. Challenges and opportunities of future development of using DNA adducts as predictive biomarkers in precision medicine are discussed.

1.2. Formation and Relevance of DNA Adducts from Anticancer Drugs. Endogenous and exogenous electrophilic reactive molecules can chemically react with cellular DNA, such as by alkylation, arylation, arylamination, oxidation, deamination, and cross-linking reactions, and nucleophilic sites in DNA are commonly modified by the addition to electrophilic molecules.^{8,10,11} The reactive sites in DNA include especially the N7, N2, and O6 positions of guanine; N1, N3, and N7 positions of adenine; the O2 and O4 positions of thymine; and the O2 and N4 positions of cytosine (Scheme 1).¹² Adducts may also arise from modification at the C8-position of purines, either via radical-mediated reactions or migration after reactions at nucleophilic sites. Because of the high number of possible modification positions and different electrophiles, there is a large diversity of DNA adduct structures; therefore, a first question to address in the study of DNA modifying drugs

Perspective





concerns the characterization of DNA adducts that may be responsible for inducing cell death.

There are several determinants of sensitivity to drug-induced DNA adducts in cancer cells. First, the efficiency with which DNA adducts are formed depends on relative rates of transport and metabolism processes that compete in the uptake and activation vs detoxification and efflux of anticancer drugs. Additionally, the potency of a given adduct can relate to its chemical structure, for example, monoadducts are generally anticipated to be less toxic than cross-linked adducts. Furthermore, biological stability vs decomposition and repair susceptibility influence the capacity for adducts to persist and inhibit replication and transcription, induce double strand breaks, and initiate apoptosis. High DNA damage levels are sensed by regulatory cell cycle proteins whose activation induces either arrest of the cell-cycle for DNA repair or apoptosis to prevent transmission of the DNA damage during mitosis. DNA lesions occurring in the S-phase of the cell cycle can block replication fork progression leading to replicationassociated DNA double strand breaks (DSBs), one of the most deleterious lesions that can occur in DNA. Greater persistence of the DNA damage can therefore more efficiently result in cell death. Greater efficiency of treatment is reached, therefore, when DNA adducts are higher or confined to cancer cells, and poorly repaired. Conversely, resistance and treatment failure may arise if DNA damage is repaired, and side effects arise from high damage in noncancerous cells (Scheme 2).^{13,14}

1.3. Measuring DNA Adducts. As chemical biomarkers, DNA adduct levels have the unique advantage of being an integrative measure of a plethora of potential drug resistance mechanisms including pharmacokinetics, tumor microenvironment, drug uptake/efflux, metabolic drug inactivation, adduct formation, and DNA repair. However, technical challenges include the fact that DNA adducts are usually present in very low abundance compared to unmodified nucleobases, often in the range of 0.01–10 adducts per 10^8 unmodified nucleobases.^{15–18} For this reason, highly sensitive, accurate, and specific approaches, often involving specialized instrumentation such as mass spectrometers, are used for detection and quantitation of low abundant adducts in DNA extracted from tissues, cells, blood, and saliva, or nucleobase adducts excreted in urine.^{19–21}

Many early studies of DNA alkylation relied on alkaline elution or the alkaline comet assay. The alkaline elution technique, developed by Kohn and co-workers in the early 70s, is one of the earliest methods for detecting DNA damage. With it, DNA single strand breaks are measured on the basis of the

Scheme 2. Biological Relevance of DNA Adducts Induced by DNA Alkylating Drugs



rate DNA fragments of differing size elute through a filter membrane under alkaline conditions.^{22–24} The alkaline comet assay is used to detect double and single-strand breaks, and under certain conditions, it can be used to detect also DNA– DNA and DNA–protein cross-linking, on the basis of DNA migration in an agarose matrix under electrophoretic conditions.²⁵ Both of these assays are relatively easy to implement. However, they have the drawback of measuring overall DNA single strand breaks or DNA cross-linking rather than chemically specific DNA adducts, which makes it more difficult to relate cellular or clinical response to the DNA alkylating drug. Accordingly, these two techniques are rarely used in a clinical setting.^{26,27}

Other techniques include atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS), radiolabeling, ³²P-postlabeling, and immunoassays. AAS has been extensively used for determining platinum-DNA adducts. The principle of AAS relies on the ability of metal atoms to absorb strongly at characteristic wavelengths, which coincide with the emission spectra lines of the particular metal.²⁸ Classically, radiolabeling, ³²P-postlabeling, and immunoassay techniques were used and are explained in more detail below.

In modern research, the methods mentioned above have been largely surpassed by mass spectrometry approaches (Table 2). Depending on the abundance of the lesion and on the sensitivity of the technique used, between 1 and 200 μ g of DNA are usually required for DNA adduct analysis by mass spectrometry.^{20,21,29} Choice of method depends on the type of sample, the nature of the investigation, as well as practical considerations balancing content of information with resources available.²⁹

1.3.1. Radiolabeling and ³²P-Postlabeling. Radiolabeling is a very sensitive technique that has been used to detect as little as 1 adduct in 10⁹ nucleotides.³⁰ DNA adduct determination with radiolabeled compounds is usually conducted by administering a single dose of the radiolabeled test substance to laboratory animals. After completion of the experiment, which can last hours to days, animals are sacrificed, DNA is isolated from organs or cells, and the amount of radioactivity in the test vs control DNA sample is determined by liquid scintillation counting (LSC).^{29–31} For this approach, it is essential that the isotope labeled atoms are in positions resistant to loss during drug metabolism or adduct formation. The use of radiolabeling for measuring DNA adducts is often limited by the high cost and effort for the synthesis of labeled compounds, as well as related to safe handling and disposal of materials.^{21,29}

³²P-postlabeling is a highly sensitive technique first introduced for DNA adduct detection in the early 1980s and allowing for measurement of around 1 adduct in 10¹⁰ unmodified nucleotides. It involves modification of the DNA after the formation of damage products with a tracer ³²P-labeled phosphate on modified nucleosides.^{32,33} This technique involves four steps: First, DNA is enzymatically digested. Second, the DNA adduct is enriched by solvent or solid-phase extraction, immunoaffinity chromatography, HPLC, or further digestion. Third, the 5'-position of the adduct is labeled by polynucleotide kinase-mediated transfer of ³²P-orthophosphate from $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP, and fourth, separation is achieved by thinlayer chromatography or by HPLC. Adduct detection and quantitation are based on ³²P-decay.²⁹ This process requires about 1–10 μ g of DNA.^{32–34} Postlabeling is characterized by high versatility and screening capabilities, and has proven efficient for detecting adducts from complex mixtures such as cigarette smoke and environmental pollutants.³⁵⁻³⁸ A major drawback limiting widespread clinical use is its lack of specificity and poor resolving capacity for distinguishing among different adducts. It also has drawbacks related with the sample preparation being labor intensive, and requiring the use and subsequent disposal of high levels of radioactivity. Additionally, there is the concern that false negative results result from failure to detect deglycosylated adducts.^{21,29}

1.3.2. Immunoassay. Antisera elicited against chemically modified DNA have been used for quantitation or semiquantitation, localization in nuclei of cells and tissues, and separation of a specific class of DNA adducts.^{39–41} For example, an antiserum specific for the cisplatin-induced intrastrand bidentate adducts (platinum-GG and platinum-GA) has been used for the detection of cisplatin-adducts in white blood cells (WBCs) from testicular and ovarian cancer patients.^{42–49} In another study, antibodies against dinucleotides containing platinum-GG or -GA adducts were used in a

limitations	labeled compound needed, loss of isotope during metabolism or adduct formation, indirect measurement (radioactivity could occur by metaboli incorporation), only stable and exogenous adducts detected, high cost	high levels of radioactivity, no structural information, false negative due to loss of adducts, labor intensive	antibody availability, cross-reactivity, relative quantitation, only stable adducts detected	adduct standard required for quantitation	labeled compound needed, instrument availability, high cost, no information about nature or chemical form of isotope, indirect measurement (radioactivity could occur by metabolic incorporation), contamination with RNA, protein-adducts, or unbound metabolite can be an issue
advantages	sensitivity, straightforward determination	sensitivity, versatility, screening possible	adduct localization, cost, simplicity	very high specificity, structural information	very high sensitivity, precision, and specificity
DNA required (µg)		1 - 10	1 - 200	10 - 100	1-2,000
sensitivity (adducts/ nucleotide)	$\sim 1/10^9$	$\sim 1/10^{10}$	$\sim 1/10^8$	$\sim 1/10^8$	$\sim 1/10^{12}$
method	radiolabeling	³² P-postlabeling	immunoassays	MS	AMS

Perspective

competitive enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) after enzyme digestion of DNA and chromatographic separation of platinated dinucleotides.⁵⁰⁻⁵² With 1 adduct every 10⁸ nucleotides, immunoassay techniques are useful tools with sufficient sensitivity for quantitation of clinically relevant levels of DNA modification; 33-55 however, their sensitivity is generally low compared to radio- or ³²P-postlabeling. A major advantage of antibodies is that their application is simple compared to more laborious techniques such as ³²Ppostlabeling, and does not require specialized and expensive instrumentation such as mass spectrometry. However, detection of DNA adducts by immunoassays is limited by the effort, time, and cost for the generation of DNA adduct-specific antibodies,^{21,29} by the cross-reactivity and nonlinear analytical responses, as well as by the large amounts of DNA necessary for each analysis.⁶

1.3.3. Mass Spectrometry. Mass spectrometry (MS) as a technique for DNA adduct analysis has unparalleled selectivity for chemical structures, with the process of repeated fragmentation of the parent ion in the context of tandem MS allowing one to derive direct information regarding DNA adduct structures. Sensitivity is in the range of 1 adduct in 10⁸ nucleotides and is increased by coupling mass spectrometry with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), and by using modern ionization methods, such as electrospray ionization (ESI). The use of MS is limited by matrix effects caused by salts and other molecules that might be present in the samples, which can interfere with ionization or DNA adduct detection and quantitation. Extensive sample preparation steps can be involved in minimizing matrix effects, including enzyme hydrolysis and DNA adduct enrichment usually performed by solid-phase extraction. Additionally, quantitation of DNA adducts is most rigorously accomplished using stable isotopelabeled internal standards, which account for sample losses during sample preparation and ion suppression during MS analysis. Depending on the structure of the adduct, the synthesis of an isotope-labeled internal standard can be laborious and cost intensive. DNA adduct detection and quantitation by mass spectrometry and coupled techniques have been extensively reviewed previously.^{19,20,56} Clearly, MS is increasingly capable of providing useful quantitation and structural information for clinical DNA adduct studies,⁵⁷⁻⁵ but it is not yet a viable platform for measuring drug-DNA adducts as biomarkers for clinical diagnostic applications. In order to be used in clinical diagnostics, limit of quantifications (LOQs) of greater than one adduct per 10⁸ nucleotides are likely required.⁶

Inductively coupled plasma MS (ICP-MS) is a sensitive type of atomic mass spectrometry that reports on the amount of metals in a sample.^{60–63} Compared to the methods described above, ICP-MS has high throughput with less tedious procedures and may be amenable to clinical studies.⁶⁴ Its ability to routinely measure adducts in the 1 per 10⁸ nucleotide range from a few micrograms of DNA is compelling, even if structural information is limited.^{65–68}

Accelerator mass spectrometry (AMS) is used to identify and quantify with high specificity, sensitivity, and precision rare, long-lived isotopes with attomole (amol) (10^{-18}) sensitivity for such labeled drugs and toxicants.^{69,70} The principle of AMS relies in breaking down molecules into atoms that are then identified and quantified in a small particle accelerator. Labeling the sample with an isotope such as ¹⁴C allows one to derive the concentration of the radiocarbon atoms in the particle beam

Table 3. In Vitro Preclinical Evidence of Studies Investigating the Correlation between DNA Adducts Induced by Anticancer Drugs and Response^a

treatment	biological model	DNA adduct detection method	response	year	ref
cisplatin	cell line(s)	HPLC-ICP-MS	sensitivity and resistance	2010	59
	cell line(s)	AAS	resistance	2000	66
	tumor biopsies	alkaline comet assav	cvtotoxicity (FDA)	2009	27
	xenografts and tumor biopsies	³² P-postlabeling	animal and clinical response	1999	167
	cell line(s)	³² P-postlabeling	growth inhibition (SRB assay)	1999	168
	cell line(s)	AAS	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	1997	169
	cell line(s), human buccal cells, lymphocytes, biopsies	ICC, IHC, and double- fluorescence microscopy	sensitivity and resistance	1997	170
	WBCs	ICP-MS	clinical response and toxicity	1996	64
	cells from bone marrow aspirates	ELISA	tumor remission	1994	171
	cell line(s)	RAGE and HPLC	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	1994	172
	cell line(s)	IHC	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1991	173
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution, ELISA	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1991	99
	WBCs	ELISA	clinical response	1990	50
	cell line(s)	ICC	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1990	174
	cell line(s)	ICC	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1988	175
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1984	176
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1982	100
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	growth inhibition (rel. cell number)	1981	177
	cell line(s) and xenografts	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1981	102
cisplatin in combination with	cell line(s)	ICP-MS	growth inhibition (crystal violet stain)	2015	63
other drugs	circulating tumor cells in peripheral blood	IHC	clinical response	2013	65
	lymphocytes	alkaline comet assay	clinical response	2006	26
	lymphocytes	HCR assay (repair capacity)	clinical response	2002	166
	WBCs	ICP-MS	clinical response and toxicity	1996	64
carboplatin	cell line(s)	AMS	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	2011	93
*	tumor biopsies	alkaline comet assay	cytotoxicity (FDA)	2009	27
	cell line(s)	ICC	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1991	178
carboplatin in combination	cell line(s)	AMS	cytotoxicity (MTS assay)	2015	90
with other drugs	cell line(s)	ICP-MS	growth inhibition (crystal violet stain assay)	2015	63
	circulating tumor cells in peripheral blood	IHC	clinical response	2013	53
	lymphocytes	ELISA	In vivo vs in vitro adduct correlation	2001	87
oxaliplatin	cell line(s)	AMS	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	2016	92
	cell line(s)	HPLC-AMS	sensitivity and resistance	2007	94
oxaliplatin in combination with other drugs	cell line(s)	ICP-MS	growth inhibition (crystal violet stain assay)	2015	63
diamminetetradichloroplatin	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1984	176
melphalan	cell line(s)	IHC	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	2004	101
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1991	99
	lymphocytes	ethidium bromide fluorescence assay	clinical response	1988	103
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1987	98
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1982	100
	cell line(s) and xenografts	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1981	102
mechlor-ethamine	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1991	99
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1987	98
PR104A	cell line(s)	nanoLC-ESI-MS	cytotoxicity (CellTiter Glo)	2017	190
	cell line(s)	alkaline comet assay	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	2009	122
acylfulvene	cell line(s)	HPLC-ESI-MS	cytotoxicity (MTS assay)	2013	141
	cell line(s)	HPLC-ESI-MS	cytotoxicity (CellTiter 96 AQueous One assay)	2013	147
MC	cell line(s)	QPCR	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	2010	179
	cell line(s)	immunofluorescence (phosphorylation of γH2AX)	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	2007	180
	cell line(s)	HPLC-UV, LC-ESI/MS	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	2002	132
	cell line(s)	HPLC-UV	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	2001	137
	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1986	134
DMC	cell line(s)	QPCR	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	2010	179

Table 3. continued

treatment	biological model	DNA adduct detection method	response	year	ref
	cell line(s)	immunofluorescence (phosphorylation of γH2AX)	cytotoxicity (MTT assay)	2007	180
	cell line(s)	HPLC-UV, LC-ESI/MS	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	2002	132
doxorubicin	cell line(s)	radiolabeling and alkaline comet assay	apoptosis (flow cytometry)	2006	157
	cell line(s)	alkaline comet assay	cytotoxicity (growth inhibition assay)	2000	164
doxorubicin in combination with other drugs	cell line(s)	radiolabeling and alkaline comet assay	apoptosis (flow cytometry)	2008	151
	lymphocytes	alkaline comet assay	clinical response	2006	26
porfiromycin	cell line(s)	alkaline elution	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1986	134
fotemustine analogues	cell line(s)	alkaline comet assay	cytotoxicity (neutral red), clonogenicity (colony forming assay), and apoptosis (ELISA)	2003	181
temozolomide in combination with other drugs	cell line(s)	HPLC-MS	growth inhibition (SRB assay)	2009	182
S23906-1	cell line(s)	electrophoresis, fluorescence	cytotoxicity (CellTiter 96_ Aqueous assay)	2003	152
acronycine analogues	cell line(s)	electrophoresis, fluorescence	cytotoxicity (MTA assay)	2003	153
tirapazamine	xenografts	alkaline comet assay	response in xenografts	1997	115
	cell line(s)	alkaline comet assay	clonogenicity (colony forming assay)	1996	114
gemcitabine	cell line(s)	AMS	cytotoxicity (MTS assay)	2016	97

^{*a*}AAS, atom absorption spectroscopy; AMS, accelerator mass spectrometry; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; ESI, electrospray ionization; FACS, fluorescence-activated cell sorting; FDA, fluorescein diacetate assay; HPLC, high performance liquid chromatography; ICC, immunocytochemistry, ICP, inductively coupled plasma; IHC, immunohistochemistry; LC, liquid chromatography; MS, mass spectrometry; MTA, microculture tetrazolium assay; MTS, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-S-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium; MTT, 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazolyl-2)-2, S-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; QPCR, quantitative polymerase chain reaction; RAGE, rotating field gel electrophoresis, SRB, sulforhodamine B; WBCs, white blood cells; γ H2AX, gamma phosphorylation of histone H2AX.

and to estimate the concentration of drug in bodily fluids (e.g., whole blood, plasma, urine, or saliva), tissue, cells, protein, and DNA. Prior to AMS analysis, the sample usually has to be converted to graphite.⁶ It is currently the most sensitive technique available for DNA adduct analysis.^{71–73} Limitations of AMS are related to the requirement for using an isotope-labeled compound and specialized instrumentation. Contamination with RNA- or protein-adducts, unbound metabolite, as well as false positive events due to metabolic incorporation instead of DNA adduct formation should be carefully addressed in order to avoid an overestimation of DNA damage amounts.

1.4. Overview of Preclinical and Clinical Evidence of DNA Adducts Related with Response. The formation of DNA adducts has been addressed extensively in the context of initiation of carcinogenesis by genotoxins, such as from occupational, environmental, and dietary chemicals, and use as mechanism-based chemical biomarkers of genotoxin exposure.⁷⁴ Characterization of the same chemical process, in the context of DNA adduct formation from alkylating anticancer drugs is thus emerging as an indicator of responsiveness to therapy by cancer patients in the context of precision medicine. The focus of this perspective is on data pertaining to DNA damaging drugs for which the relationship between DNA adducts and cellular or patient responses has been characterized. Published studies concerning platinumbased drugs, nitrogen mustards, hypoxia-activated prodrugs, reductase-activated drugs, and minor-groove binding agents (Table 3 and Table 4) are thus presented and discussed with an emphasis on the nature of the predictive relationship obtained for biological responses as well as the bioanalytical methods used for adduct detection. For the drugs temozolomide, fotemustine, and gemcitabine, to our knowledge there has been only a single study reported for each concerning the relationship of DNA adducts with cytotoxicity, and these are summarized in Table 3 but not elaborated on further in the

text. There are many other important DNA alkylating drugs such as nitrosoureas or alkylsulfonates that are not reported in this perspective because of a lack of data concerning the quantitative relationship between adduct levels with sensitivity in cancer cells or patients.

2. PLATINUM DRUGS AND COMBINATION THERAPIES

Platinum-based drugs, such as cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin (Figure 2) are a cornerstone of modern combinatorial chemotherapeutic therapy and are used in over half of all chemotherapy patients for various cancers, including ovarian, breast, testicular, lung, colon, and bladder cancers, as well as lymphomas, myelomas, and melanomas.^{75,76} Except in testicular cancer, their efficacy is limited by severe side effects and intrinsic or acquired drug resistance, eventually causing treatment failure. $^{75,77-79}$ The main mechanism of action of platinum drugs is to form covalent drug-DNA adducts, which interfere with transcription and replication to ultimately induce cell death via apoptosis or necrosis. The compounds predominantly react with guanine, and to a lesser extent, adenine nucleotides at the 7 position to form mono- (Pt-X) and diadducts (X-Pt-X or Pt-XX). The major diadduct product is an intrastrand cross-link (Pt-GG or Pt-GA), which is thought to invoke biochemical responses in cells by distorting the DNA helical structure. Cisplatin and carboplatin form structurally identical diadduct cross-links, which unfortunately leads to a similar resistance spectrum with these platinum drugs. However, oxaliplatin, a third generation platinum drug, has been shown to be active in cisplatin and carboplatin resistant cancers.⁷⁶

Despite substantial understanding of the molecular mechanisms involved in drug resistance, little progress has been made in the prediction of cancer patient response to cytotoxic

Table 4. In Vivo Clinical Evidence of the Correlation between DNA Adducts Induced by Anticancer Drugs and Response^a

				-	
treatment	biological model	DNA adduct detection method	response	year	ref
cisplatin	lymphocytes	HCR assay (repair capacity)	clinical response	2011	83
	xenografts	³² P-postlabeling	animal and clinical response	1999	167
	xenografts	³² P-postlabeling	GDF and T/C value	1999	168
	blood samples		clinical response	1998	54
	human buccal cells, tumor biopsies, paraffin- embedded tumor cells	ICC, IHC, and double- fluorescence microscopy	sensitivity and resistance	1997	170
	WBCs	ICP-MS	clinical response	1996	64
	several tissues	AAS and ELISA	tumor remission	1993	80
	WBCs	ELISA	clinical response	1990	55
	rats	ICC	histological alterations	1987	183
cisplatin in combination with radiation	normal (WBCs + buccal) and tumor biopsies	³² P-postlabeling	in tumor vs WBCs	2008	184
	primary tumor, WBCs, and buccal cells	³² P-postlabeling	clinical response	2006	82
	buccal mucosa		survival rate	2000	185
	buccal cells	ICC	clinical response	2000	85
	WBCs	AAS	clinical response	1996	186
cisplatin in combination with	WBCs	AAS	clinical response	1993	49
carbopiatin	WBCs	AAS	resistance and toxicity	1993	187
	buccal cells	ICC	clinical response	1993	188
	WBCs	AAS	clinical response	1992	58
	WBCs	AAS	clinical response	1991	189
cisplatin in combination with	lymphocytes	alkaline comet assay	clinical response	2006	26
other urugs	WBCs	AAS	clinical response	1996	186
	WBCs	AAS	clinical response	1996	88
	WBCs	ICP-MS	clinical response	1996	64
	WBCs	ELISA, AAS	clinical response	1994	89
	blood cells	ELISA and AAS	clinical response	1993	47
	WBCs	ELISA	clinical response	1990	50
	blood cells	ELISA	clinical response	1988	44
	WBCs	ELISA	clinical response	1987	45
		ELISA	clinical response	1986	48
1 1 4		ELISA	clinical response	1985	46
carboplatin	tumor biopsies and blood cells	ICP-MS	clinical response	2012	65
	lymphocytes	HCR (repair capacity)	clinical response	2011	83
	WBCs	ICP-MS	clinical response	1996	04
	will C-	AAS and ELISA	tumor remission	1993	80
	WBCs		histological alterations	1990	33
carboplatin in combination with	blood cells	AMS	clinical response and animal	2016	91
	tumor biopsies and blood cells	ICP-MS	clinical response	2012	65
	mononuclear cells from bone marrow aspirates	ICP-MS	bone marrow response, and clinical response	2004	57
	WBCs	ELISA, AAS	clinical response	1994	89
	blood cells	ELISA and AAS	clinical response	1993	47
oxaliplatin	lymphocytes	HCR (repair capacity)	clinical response	2011	83
oxaliplatin in combination with other drugs	WBCs	adsorptive stripping voltammetry	clinical response	2008	86
cyclophosphamide in combination	blood cells	alkaline elution	clinical response	1992	105
with other drugs	blood cells	HPLC-LSI-MS/MS	clinical response	2012	106
melphalan	WBCs	gel electrophoresis and Southern blotting	clinical response	2003	104
doxorubicin in combination with	lymphocytes	alkaline comet assay	clinical response	2006	26
other drugs	lymphocytes	alkaline comet assay	clinical response	2000	164

^{*a*}AAS, atom absorption spectroscopy; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; GDF, growth delay factor; HCR, host-cell reactivation; HPLC, high performance liquid chromatography; ICC, immunocytochemistry; ICP, inductively coupled plasma; IHC, immunohistochemistry; LSI, laser spray ionization; MS, mass spectrometry; T/C, treated/control; WBCs, white blood cells.

chemotherapy drugs in clinical practice. Currently, most platinum-based therapeutic strategies are one-size-fits-all and trial-and-error approaches whereby they are administered at high therapeutic doses in combination with one or more other drugs followed by monitoring of response over relatively long periods of time (Figure 1).⁶

Over the last three decades, the relationship between platinum drug-induced DNA adduct levels with cytotoxicity



has been addressed in a number of preclinical and clinical studies.^{42,46,47,80-87} For example, in a series of ELISA-based clinical studies of ovarian and testicular cancer patients conducted by Reed et al., 44,45,48,81 significantly higher platinum-DNA adduct levels were observed in isolated leukocyte DNA after cisplatin- or carboplatin-based chemotherapy in patients with good clinical outcome. They further expanded the patient population to include breast, lung, colon, and squamous sarcoma cancer patients, by analyzing platinum levels in leucocyte DNA via AAS.^{49,80} More recently, Pieck et al. investigated the formation of oxaliplatin-DNA adducts in WBCs isolated from patients with various malignancies.⁸⁶ The use of the more sensitive adsorptive stripping voltammetry enabled the quantitation of the generally lower oxaliplatin-DNA adduct level after administration of systemic oxaliplatin based chemotherapy. There were significantly higher platinumnucleotide ratios at 24 and 48 h after the start of infusion in responders compared to that in nonresponders.⁸⁶

There are conflicting results concerning the relationship of DNA damage by platinum drugs and responses, depending on whether two different detection methods, ELISA or AAS, were correlated to clinical outcome.47,80 Low DNA adduct levels measured by ELISA consistently correlated with disease progression, whereas in some initial AAS-based studies, the incorporation of total platinum failed to show such a correlation.^{64,88,89} Adduct level measurements via ELISA and AAS by Motzer et al., or via ICP-MS by Bonetti et al., showed no differences between responsive and nonresponsive patient populations.^{64,89} There are several possible reasons for such conflicting data including differences in the sensitivity of various tumor types to platinum based therapy, drug regimes, study designs, analytical detection methods employed and small numbers of patients. A likely reason for the data discrepancy could be variations in experimental procedures used by different investigators. For example, Blommaert et al. used ICC nuclear stain accumulation of buccal mucosa cells as a surrogate for WBCs or tumor tissues and observed a moderate correlation of carboplatin-adduct formation and good clinical response, whereas the cisplatin nuclear stain failed to correlate with treatment response.⁹⁵ The ICP-MS-based study published by Bonetti et al.⁶⁴ had a 24% incidence of samples below the LOD and failed to show a correlation of platinum adduct level and response. Nel et al. studied the formation and repair of Pt-(GpG) intrastrand cross-linked DNA adducts in isolated CTCs.⁵³ They treated and immunostained cells from patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) ex vivo with cisplatin prior to patient systemic therapy. Platinum-DNA adduct formation (curve max, area under the curve (AUC), and curve slope (repair)) correlated significantly with patient response to subsequent platinum based chemotherapy.

A major concern in the interpretation of adduct data is the possibility that, in clinical practice, the majority of patients are being treated with one or more additional anticancer drugs, to induce synergistic effects and to enhance efficacy, and that depending on tumor type, the nonplatinum combination drugs could contribute more to the overall response. These combination therapies can include antimitotics, chain terminating nucleoside analogues, topoisomerase inhibitors, angiogenesis inhibitors, or more recently, the molecular targeted therapies (e.g., paclitaxel, gemcitabine, doxorubicin, everolimus, or gefitinib, respectively). In a recent ICP-MS based preclinical study, Chen et al. showed that the combination of Dpenicillamine with oxaliplatin or cisplatin led to an increase in platinum-adduct formation and cytotoxicity in the resistant cervical carcinoma cell line.⁶³ Similarly, Jiang et al. reported increased carboplatin-DNA adduct formation and cytotoxicity in an urothelial carcinoma cell line when cotreated with paclitaxel.⁹⁰ However, the *in vivo* contribution of each individual drug in a regimen to tumor response is more complicated to delineate than in cell culture cytotoxicity experiments. In a recent report by Zimmermann et al., gemcitabine- and carboplatin-DNA adduct levels were shown to correlate with response to chemotherapy in four patient derived xenograft (NSG-PDX) mouse models of bladder cancer.91 In one of the PDX models, the drug-DNA adduct levels were influenced by the combination drug, and this model had an apparent synergistic response (enhanced normalized tumor volume reduction) to the combination treatment. In a report by Cooper et al., leukemia patients were administered carboplatin, fludarabine, and escalating doses of topotecan, and no correlation of a small patient cohort's response with carboplatin DNA adduct formation at 48 h was observed, possibly due to the complex three drug clinical strategy and measurement of only one pharmacodynamic end point. However, patients with faster reduction of adduct levels (DNA repair) had a higher chance of relapse.⁵⁷ Despite the previous contradictory conclusions, drug-DNA adduct levels as pharmacodynamic end points remain potentially useful as indicators of drug response to cytotoxic chemotherapy agents.

Because of the insufficient sensitivity of available standard detection methods (i.e., ICP-MS, immunoassays), platinum-DNA adduct levels are commonly measured only after exposure to high, therapeutically relevant drug concentrations. An in vivo diagnostic microdosing strategy is being perused by Henderson and co-workers, by a combination of microdosing with a ¹⁴C labeled drug and adduct determination of tissue samples (PBMCs or tumor biopsy) via AMS prior to chemotherapy. AMS is sufficiently sensitive to enable the study of platinum drug DNA adduct formation at subtherapeutic levels, termed a diagnostic microdose, which has the potential to predict response to treatment.^{91–97} The investigators have demonstrated proof of principle of this approach through two model systems: (1) cell culture studies using multiple cancer lines^{92,96,97} and (2) mouse tumor xenografts.⁹³ Three key observations were made: (a) the level of drug-DNA adducts is low in resistant cancer cells and high in sensitive cancer cells; (b) diagnostic microdosing predicts the level of therapeuticinduced carboplatin- or oxaliplatin-DNA adducts; and (c) microdose-induced carboplatin-DNA monoadduct frequencies correlate with PDX tumor response toward full platinum based chemotherapy in mice. This work has evolved into two ongoing clinical studies in cancer patients to assess the predictive capabilities of this approach (Clinicaltrials.gov identifiers NCT01261299 and NCT02569723). Preliminary results recently reported show a strong predictive relationship between microdose-induced carboplatin-DNA monoadducts in PBMC's from bladder cancer patients and response to standard carboplatin- or cisplatin-based chemotherapy (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Diagnostic microdosing for the prediction of patient response. (A) Cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin DNA adduct structures (* denotes the presence of a 14 C atom used in AMS studies). (B) Schema for developing carboplatin-DNA adducts as biomarkers of bladder cancer chemotherapy response. (C) Preliminary data from a clinical study using AMS analysis of PBMC from bladder cancer patients given [14 C] carboplatin diagnostic microdoses followed 24 h later by blood sampling and by subsequent platinum-based chemotherapy. The carboplatin-DNA adduct data were correlated with patient response to chemotherapy. GC, gemcitabine and cisplatin; MVAC, methotrexate, vinblastine, doxorubicin, and cisplatin.



Figure 4. Nitrogen mustards and half mustard analogues.

3. NITROGEN MUSTARDS AND HALF-MUSTARDS

Nitrogen mustards were the first DNA alkylating drugs used in early cancer chemotherapy in the 1950s. Variants of these compounds are used in modern clinical therapy of leukemias and sarcomas, and of cancers of the breast, ovary, testes, and lung. Nitrogen mustards are bifunctional chemicals, inducing interstrand cross-linking of DNA typically by alkylating the 7-position of two guanines in GNC·GNC ($5' \rightarrow 3'/5' \rightarrow 3'$) sequences. Although the cross-links are considered to be the most severe form of alkylation damage to DNA and responsible for inducing cell death, it is typically the case that more modification occurs in the form of monoadducts from alkylation at various positions, such as 7- or 3-Gua.⁹

Mechlorethamine, an aliphatic nitrogen mustard, and melphalan, an aromatic nitrogen mustard, both induce guanine 7 mono and cross-linked adducts, and melphalan has been shown to also react with adenine at the 3 position (Figure 4).⁹ In a series of studies reported by Hansson et al., the relationship of DNA adduct formation and removal with cellular response was evaluated for these two compounds in human melanoma cell lines.^{98,99} Alkaline elution was used for DNA cross-linking analysis, and the formation of colonies was used as a basis for characterizing responsiveness to the drug. For both drugs, clonogenicity increased with increases in the total area under the curve for DNA interstrand cross-links (ICLs).^{98,99} In a related *in vitro* study concerning three Burkitt's lymphoma cell lines, DNA interstrand cross-linking was



measured by alkaline elution and compared to colony formation. ICLs increased with increasing dose and correlated with an increase in clonogenicity to melphalan treatment, also suggesting that DNA ICLs could be predictive of sensitivity.¹⁰⁰ Using the monoclonal antibody MP5/73 and immunohistochemistry (IHC) visualization, melphalan-specific DNA adducts were compared in three human colon cancer cell lines (HT-29, SW480, and SW1116) and one rat colon cancer cell line (CC531) exposed to increasing concentrations of melphalan. Increasing doses of melphalan led to increases in DNA adduct staining intensity and reduced cell metabolic activity (MTT assay).¹⁰¹ In another study, the relationship between DNA cross-linking, determined by alkaline elution, and cell death induced by melphalan in a drug-resistant L1210 leukemia cell line, indicated that interstrand cross-linking was reduced in the resistant cell line relative to the parent line, with cytotoxicity in the resistant line being reduced by approximately the same proportion as the cross-links.¹⁰² Furthermore, the relationship between DNA cross-linking and cell killing was assessed in mice bearing the sensitive and resistant L1210 leukemia cell lines. The different cells were isolated from mice and treated in vitro with melphalan (20 μ M for 1 h), and DNA cross-linking was determined.¹⁰² The melphalan-resistant cells exhibited marked reductions of cross-linking which correlated with a reduced survival rate compared to the corresponding parent cells.¹⁰²

In clinical studies aiming to determine if DNA cross-linking by melphalan is predictive of sensitivity, relationships among transport, metabolism, and DNA interactions of melphalan have been addressed in lymphocytes from patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia.¹⁰³ Using an ethidium bromide fluorescence assay to monitor DNA alkylation, it was found that lymphocytes that were removed from untreated patients and then treated with 5 μ M melphalan had a statistically significantly greater percentage of cross-links than in lymphocytes derived from resistant patients.¹⁰³ Finally, melphalan-induced DNA mono- and cross-linked adducts located in TP53 and N-ras gene sequences of genomic DNA from human peripheral lymphocytes of multiple myeloma patients following in vitro exposure or in vivo treatment to melphalan have been characterized.¹⁰⁴ Of seven patients with multiple myeloma treated with high dose melphalan, three with

the lowest levels of DNA damage in *TP53* and *N-ras* did not respond to melphalan therapy.¹⁰⁴ These studies support that DNA adducts from melphalan, both in preclinical and clinical contexts, may be predictive of drug response.

The nitrogen mustard cyclophosphamide (Figure 4), in contrast to melphalan and mechlorethamine, requires metabolic activation by CYP2B6 to the phosphoramide mustard in order to form DNA adducts (Figure 5).^{9,105,106} In peripheral mononuclear blood cells (PBCs) of 15 ovarian carcinoma patients receiving a therapy regime which combined cyclophosphamide and carboplatin, DNA strand breaks and crosslinks measured by alkaline elution had considerably increased mean elution rates for treated patients when compared to that of healthy controls. A strong increase in elution rate was considered possibly linked to therapeutic success when comparing six patients at the same stage of cancer, but the authors were cautious to draw such conclusions due to the low number of patients.¹⁰⁵ In another study, the interstrand DNA cross-link G-NOR-G was quantified by HPLC-MS/MS in blood cells of Fanconi anemia (FA) and non-FA cancer patients receiving cyclophosphamide-based therapy prior to hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT).¹⁰⁶ Quantitation of this adduct revealed that FA patients produced 15-fold higher adduct levels than non-FA patients, confirming the hypothesis that FA patients are hypersensitive to DNA alkylating agents and require a lower dose of cyclophosphamide during treatment.¹⁰⁶ This FA study was the first instance of low abundant cytotoxic G-NOR-G adducts being measured in blood cells, underlying the sensitivity of HPLC-MS/MS approaches in the assessment of DNA adducts by DNA alkylating drugs in samples derived from patients.¹⁰⁶ Furthermore, this example involves a nitrogen mustard drug that requires metabolic activation, and there appears to be a predictive relationship between DNA adducts and response since metabolic activation is taken into account with the adduct measurement.

4. HYPOXIA-ACTIVATED PRODRUGS

Tumor hypoxia, a state of low oxygen concentration common in tumor cells, is associated with radio- and chemotherapy resistance. Nonetheless, it also provides an opportunity for selective targeting of tumor cells with hypoxia-specific gene

therapy, recombinant anaerobic bacteria, and hypoxia-activated prodrugs (HAPs). HAPs are preferentially activated in hypoxic cells by enzymatic reduction, for example, of nitro groups, quinones, aromatic *N*-oxides, aliphatic *N*-oxides, and transition metals. A general chemical mechanism for activation of HAPs involves the formation of free radical intermediates by oneelectron reductases and further reduction to cytotoxic drugs in hypoxic cells. The formation of the initial free radical intermediates is inhibited in oxygenated cells, where the radical intermediates are reoxidized to the original prodrug (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Mechanism of activation of hypoxia-activated prodrugs.

Hypoxia, as well as expression levels and diversity of functional one-reductase enzymes, determine HAP selectivity for tumor vs normal cells, and these factors can be monitored in tumor samples to predict HAP potency. They can be divided into two groups: those activated under moderate hypoxia, such as tirapazamine, or those activated under severe hypoxia, such as PR104 (Figure 7). In the second case, it is essential that the



Figure 7. Hypoxia-activated prodrugs.

active drug diffuses into less hypoxic regions of the cancer in order to also have an effect in cells that are only moderately hypoxic. $^{107-109}\,$

Tirapazamine (TPZ, Figure 7) is an HAP from the class of the benzotriazine di-*N*-oxides designed more than 30 years ago. It was the first drug introduced into the clinic as a bioreductive agent. It has been shown to induce DNA single strand breaks (SSBs), double strand breaks (DSBs), and chromosome aberrations.^{110,111} TPZ potentiates the effect of radiation therapy (RT) by killing hypoxic cells in the tumor, which are the most radiation-resistant.¹⁰⁹ TPZ has also been shown to enhance the efficacy of cisplatin by increasing its sensitivity rather than from a combined effect in cells.¹⁰⁹ The combination of TPZ with cisplatin has been tested in a Phase III clinical trial with advanced NSCLC, and was found to double the overall response rate and significantly prolong survival when compared to that of cisplatin standard treatment.^{109,112} In a randomized Phase II study with 122 previously untreated patients with stage III/IV of head and neck cancer, the addition of TPZ to cisplatin-based chemoradiotherapy improved patient survival over cisplatin-based chemoradiotherapy treatment only.¹¹³ In addition, a strong correlation between hypoxic cytotoxicity and TPZ-induced DNA SSBs measured by the alkaline comet assav has been found in human (A549, HT1080, and HT-29) and murine tumor cell lines (EMT6, RIF-1, and SCCVII).¹¹⁴ The same cell lines were also subcutaneously transplanted in mice to investigate whether levels of DNA damage induced by TPZ can be used to predict the response to fractionated radiation.¹¹⁵ The level of DNA damage, measured after a single TPZ dose, distinguished TPZ nonresponsive HT1080 tumors but could not predict the enhancement of radiation cell killing for the other tumor types. The authors hypothesized that the correlation between DNA damage and radiation potentiation previously observed in cell lines also exists in xenograft models but that it could have been masked by the large variation in the DNA damage measured between individual tumors.¹¹⁵

PR104 is an experimental hypoxia-activated DNA alkylating drug under investigation for the treatment of leukemias (Figure ^{16,117} When administered to patients, PR104 is systemically hydrolyzed to the corresponding alcohol PR104A, which is metabolically activated to cytotoxic hydroxylamine (PR104H) and amine (PR104M) metabolites by one-electron reductases or by the two-electron reductase AKR1C3 in an oxygen-independent reaction. $^{118-121}$ PR104A induces DNA mono- and interstrand cross-links, mainly at the 7-position of guanine, and 7/3-position of adenine.^{119,122,123} Recent cell-based studies concerning this drug have centered on better understanding properties of cancer cells that make them most responsive to PR104, as well as how cells can be activated to have increased susceptibility to the drug. Thus, when HT-29 colon cancer cells were preconditioned with a low dose of the isothiocyanate sulforaphane (SF), which alone had no appreciable influence on cell viability, enhanced the capacity of PR104A to induce cell death¹²⁴ and, furthermore, led to an increase in PR104A DNA adducts relative to nonpreconditioned controls. The analysis was carried out by LC-MS/MS; therefore, it could be ascertained that adducts whose levels increased were those with masses indicating that they were formed from PR104A metabolites. On the basis of previous data concerning the influence of SF-preconditioning on HT-29 cells, it can be concluded that the mechanism of increased metabolite-adduct formation results from increased levels and activity of the enzyme AKR1C3, which is the main reductase thought to activate PR104A under normoxic conditions.¹⁹⁰ The higher enzyme expression results in more extensive drug metabolism/ activation and therefore higher levels of adducts in increased cytotoxicity in the target cells.



399

Figure 8. Reductase-activated drugs.

5. REDUCTASE-ACTIVATED DRUGS

Reductase-activated drugs rely on metabolic activation by an enzyme-catalyzed reduction for generating cytotoxic metabolites. The expression levels of bioreductive enzymes in tumor cells relative to normal tissues largely dictate sensitivity for this class of DNA alkylating agents. Tumor hypoxia may also enhance the sensitivity of cells to reductase-activated drugs, for example, by activation of the drug to the cytotoxic metabolites by one-electron reductases under hypoxic conditions. Thus, although PR104, discussed in the last section is classified as a HAP per its original design, it could also be considered a reductase-activated drug per the discovery of the role of AKR1C3 reduction in its activation.¹²¹

Mitomycins are antibiotics discovered in the 1950s and produced by the microorganism Streptomyces caespitosus.¹²⁵ The most investigated member of this family, mitomycin C (MC, Figure 8), additionally has anticancer activity and has been widely used in cancer chemotherapy for the treatment of various cancers such as breast, bladder, stomach, pancreas, lung, and liver. Upon reductive activation, MC alkylates DNA and induces at least six different DNA adducts, and among them a cross-link between two guanines alkylated at the N2 position.¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸ Several synthetic and natural analogues of mitomycins have been studied for their anticancer properties and as mechanistic probes of biochemical processes that influence their activity. Among these analogues, the MC derivative 10-decarbamoyl mitomycin C (DMC, Figure 8), obtained by chemical removal of the 10-carbamoyl group of MC, was first synthesized to study structure-activity relationships¹²⁹ and was subsequently investigated for its capacity to alkylate DNA.^{128,130–133}

The formation of DNA interstrand cross-links, measured by alkaline elution, correlated with cytotoxicity for MC in mouse mammary tumor EMT6 and Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells grown under hypoxia, with more being formed in these conditions than under anoxia.¹³⁴ In EMT6 cells, MC was more toxic than porfiromycin (PM) under normoxia, and the DNA ICL amounts observed for MC and PM under these conditions correlated with the cytotoxicity.¹³⁴ To test the hypothesis that MC-induced DNA adducts derive from two distinct pathways, namely, direct alkylation by MC or alkylation after bioreduction to the major reductive metabolite (2,7-DAM), the same cell line was used to characterize the relationship among reductive metabolism of MC, DNA adduct formation, and cytotoxicity. In fact, there were four DNA adducts identified as directly originating from MC, and two derived from the alkylation of 2,7-DAM.^{135,136} When EMT6 cells were treated with 2,7-DAM, the same adducts were observed as when the cells were treated with MC. However, 2,7-DAM has dramatically lower potency with regard to cytotoxicity, and results suggested that the corresponding adducts are not important for MC cytotoxicity.135,137 It was hypothesized that the formation of the adducts by 2,7-DAM is a mechanism to inactivate MC, but if true, these results would be in disagreement with the hypothesis that DNA adducts by DNA alkylating drugs correlate with cytotoxicity. However, the same study also found a correlation between MC-derived DNA adducts and cytotoxicity by treating these cells with MC.¹³⁷

The synthetic MC metabolite DMC (Figure 8) was found to be slightly more toxic than MC in a variety of cell lines, including repair-deficient variants.¹³⁸ To understand the basis of the reduced cytotoxicity of MC vs DMC, DNA adducts resulting from treatment of EMT6 cells with equimolar concentrations of DMC and MC were assessed.¹³² DMC was found to induce both monofunctional and bifunctional adducts resulting from reactions with 2'-deoxyguanosine (dGuo) in genomic DNA, a pattern similar to that observed for MC. However, DMC induced 20-30 times more total adducts than MC in EMT6 cells. For example, for DMC and MC, the total adducts induced by 10 μ M drug treatment were 5.4 adducts per 10^5 nucleotides and 0.26 adducts per 10^5 nucleotides, respectively. Surprisingly, the interstrand cross-linking activity of DMC in cells was found to be weaker compared to that of MC: DMC-induced cross-links represented only 7% of total adduct measured, whereas MC-induced cross-links represented 27%.¹³² Furthermore, evaluation of colony forming assay data indicated that DMC was slightly more toxic than MC. Thus, for both molecules, cytotoxicity correlated with DNA cross-linking activities but not with their total monoadduct burden.¹³²

Acylfulvenes (AFs) are another class of reductase-activated DNA alkylating drugs. They are derived from the natural product illudin S. These compounds are notable for reasonable selective toxicity to certain cancer cells, especially those with high expression of prostaglandin reductase 1 (PTGR1), which bioactivates the drug.^{139–141} The activated intermediate of AF reacts with DNA resulting mainly in alkylation at the 3 position of adenine but also of 7- and 3-positions of guanine.¹⁴⁰ The adducts induced by the substituted AF analogue HMAF, which has been the most advanced clinical candidate among this class, as well as the original natural product illudin S, appear to be exclusively repaired by the transition-coupled subpathway of nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway.^{142–146}

Illudin S and acylfulvene (AF, Figure 8) have been used as a complementary pair of probes to better understand how drug cytotoxicity relates to cellular bioactivation capacity and DNA adduct formation for reductase-activated DNA alkylation because the structurally related compounds have very different cell selectivity profiles. To this purpose, a colon cancer cell line (SW-480) was engineered to stably overexpress PRGR1, the reductase enzyme required for activating AF. Cytotoxicity and DNA adduct levels quantified by LC-ESI-MS/MS were compared for the two compounds in the PTGR1-engineered and normal cell lines.¹⁴¹ AF induced more DNA adducts and exhibited increased cytotoxicity in cells overexpressing PTGR1, whereas illudin S-induced DNA adducts also correlated with cytotoxicity, but these factors were not influenced by the levels of PTGR1 in the cells.¹⁴¹ Additionally, it has been hypothesized that inhibiting the NER pathway would result in the persistence of AF-DNA adducts and therefore increase its cytotoxicity. Thus, HT-29 cells were treated with AF in combination with nontoxic doses of UCN-01, which prevents cells from undergoing NER, or methoxamine, a base excision repair (BER) inhibitor, as comparison. Both cytotoxicity and the major adducts were quantified using LC-ESI-MS/MS and 3-AF-Ade-d₃ as internal standard were measured.¹⁴⁷ Impairing NER function, but not BER, led to the persistence of AFinduced DNA adducts and promoted AF cytotoxicity by reducing the concentration required to kill HT-29 colon cancer cells by 2-fold.¹⁴⁷ This study also measured the formation and repair of AF-induced adducts versus time by exposing the cells to 500 nM AF for 24 h and then to fresh medium lacking the drug for 48 h. During the first 24 h, AF-induced adduct levels increased with increasing time of AF exposure, whereas a decrease in adduct levels was observed for the 48 h that followed medium replacement.¹⁴⁷ Studies addressing the



Figure 9. Minor groove binding agents.

kinetic of formation and repair of DNA adducts may be useful for identifying the appropriate timing of sample collection for diagnostics tests.

6. MINOR-GROOVE BINDING AGENTS

The spatial arrangement of base pairs in the DNA double helix gives rise to the major and minor grooves. With a width of 11.6 Å and depth of 8.5, the major groove is characterized by multiple sites of interaction for strong binding to drugs and ligands, and it provides easy access for large molecules. On the other hand, with a width of 6.0 Å and a depth of 8.2, the minor groove is smaller and has fewer binding sites available for binding interactions or reactions. However, the minor groove is accessible for reacting with small molecules such as antibiotic and anticancer drugs.^{148,149} Doxorubicin (DOX), acronycine, and tetrabectedin are DNA minor-groove binding agents (Figure 9). Studies have been carried out to understand how the formation of DNA adducts from these three drugs relates to cellular responses in cell lines and in patient-derived cells.^{26,150–154}

DOX is a chemotherapeutic agent belonging to the class of anthracyclines antibiotics, which also include daunorubicin, idarubicin, and epirubicin. It is used clinically, usually in a combination of drugs with a complementary mode of action, against breast, lung, thyroid, and ovary carcinomas, leukemias, and Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. DOX is classified as a topoisomerase II poison since it binds to DNAassociated enzymes, such as topoisomerase I and II, but it may perturb several other biochemical processes in affecting its anticancer activity. Inhibition of topoisomerase II results in DSBs, which if not repaired can initiate apoptosis.^{155,156} It also forms covalent DNA adducts, and the toxicity of these lesions toward cells is higher than that induced by topoisomerase II impairment.^{155,157} The resulting DNA adducts are predominantly induced at 5'-GC-3' sites via reaction at the N2 amino group of dGuo.^{158–162} Formaldehyde plays a central role in DNA adduct formation by DOX since it provides a methylene group that links the 3'-amino group of DOX to the 2-amino group of dGuo in DNA via Schiff base chemistry.158,163 A peculiarity of these adducts is that they are formed by covalent binding to one DNA strand but are resistant to thermal denaturation due to the stabilization to the local region of DNA.¹⁵⁹

The cytotoxicity of DOX-induced DNA adducts has been extensively addressed. In HL-60 cells, adducts induced by cotreatment with DOX and nontoxic doses of formaldehydereleasing prodrugs increased cytotoxicity compared to the treatment with DOX only. Additionally, fewer topoisomerase II-mediated DSBs were observed by the combined treatment, suggesting that the presence of formaldehyde shifts the mode of action of DOX from inhibiting topoisomerase II to inducing DOX-DNA adducts.¹⁵⁷ The same authors investigated the effect of topoisomerase II inhibitors on DOX-induced topoisomerase II-mediated DSBs and on formaldehyde-mediated DOX-DNA adducts.¹⁵¹ They found that the topoisomerase II inhibitor subuzoxane released formaldehyde and shifted the mechanism of DOX toxicity to the formation of DOX-DNA adducts, which enhanced the apoptotic response compared to DOX as a single treatment in HL-60 cells.¹⁵¹

The alkaline comet assay was used to assess DNA damage in peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBLs) of cancer patients receiving DOX-based treatment. In an attempt to develop a predictive test of outcome prior to chemotherapy, Nadin et al. determined individual influences of the in vitro exposure DOX and in vivo treatment with DOX-based regimes on DNA damage, DNA repair, and mismatch repair proteins hMSH2 and hMLH1 protein expression in PBLs isolated from 25 cancer patients pre- and postchemotherapy and related them to patient response.²⁶ The results were that DNA damage induced by in vitro treatment with DOX did not distinguish between patients showing complete response and those showing partial response, stable disease, or progressive disease.²⁶ The authors suggest that the inability to distinguish between patient response by means of DNA damage may be related to low nuclear expression of topoisomerase II, the main target of DOX. Similarly, Johnstone et al. also reported that levels of DOX-induced DNA damage, assessed by the alkaline comet assay, was not predictive of response in PBLs isolated from breast cancer patients in vivo, even though in the latter case an apparent difference could be observed between patients that relapsed and those that did not, but this difference was not statistically significant.¹⁶⁴ Nonetheless, in the same study a correlative relationship was observed between cytotoxicity and DNA damage in a human breast cancer cell lines in vitro.¹⁶⁴

For another class of minor groove binding agents, the acronycines, there is data available concerning the relationship of DNA damage with responses of cell lines. For example, for the benzoacronycine derivative S23906-1 (Figure 9), a potent antitumor agent that alkylates mainly N2-Gua in DNA and for which activity is modulated by glutathione (GSH),^{153,165} a correlation was observed between drug-induced DNA adducts and cytotoxicity. Elevated GSH levels in KB-3-1 epidermoid carcinoma cells were associated with a 3-fold reduction in cytotoxicity, which was attributed to a reduced formation of drug-DNA adducts. Additionally, treatment of cancer cells with buthionine sulfoximine, an inhibitor of GSH biosynthesis, led to an increase in the formation of S23906-1-DNA adducts and promoted cytotoxicity.¹⁵² To elucidate the precise molecular mechanism of DNA alkylation by S23906-1 and to understand its involvement in cytotoxicity and antitumor

properties, an evaluation of structure–activity relationships was performed with a series of structural analogues of S23906-1 in KB-3-1 cells, and it was concluded that activity of these analogues was strongly correlated with DNA adduct formation.¹⁵³

7. CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

As our model of cancer as a complex and molecularly heterogeneous disease sharpens, biomarker-driven drug selection for precision therapy will have an increasingly central role in cancer chemotherapy, both shaping the discovery and development of novel therapeutics, and giving rise to new companion diagnostic strategies for the more effective use of traditional drugs. Drugs that modify the structure of DNA and target cancer cells by interfering with DNA synthesis are current first line medications, but there remain drawbacks of resistance and side effects caused by poor selectivity toward tumor cells. In several studies carried out over the last 30 years, researchers have characterized the relationship between druginduced DNA adducts and biological responses. These data suggest that the functional basis of inducing modifications in DNA may offer new opportunities for selecting susceptible patients on the basis of monitoring DNA adduct formation as a predictive diagnostic marker.

Much of the available data regarding the relationship between drug-induced DNA alkylation and biological responses are from in vitro studies aimed at understanding mechanisms of drug action or understanding biochemical factors that alter the susceptibility of cells toward these drugs, such as expression of GSH, DNA repair, transport, or bioactivation enzymes. In several recent studies, there has been further investigation about whether *in vivo* or patient responses can be predicted by DNA modification profiles. As reviewed herein, for a large majority of the preclinical studies of the relationship between drug action and adduct formation, there was a positive correlation observed between DNA adduct levels and response. These include analysis of samples such as from cell lines, tumor xenografts, or blood cells derived from cancer patients. In the case of clinical studies, a correlation between DNA adducts and response in samples such as xenografts, tumor biopsies, and blood cells derived from cancer patients was less reliable but could be established nonetheless most of the time. This discrepancy is not surprising since in vivo studies, particularly when the end point is patient responsiveness, are a more complex and potentially confounded situation, and therefore, prediction of drug efficacy is expected to be more difficult. These results are very encouraging, particularly considering that they come from a significant number of studies performed over a long period of time, on different samples, from different research groups, and analyzed with different analytical techniques. The high prediction of cytotoxicity from DNA adducts further emphasizes their biological importance in inducing cancer cell death and also emphasizes the value of understanding mechanisms of toxicity to identify candidate biomarkers. Lastly, DNA adducts benefit from their chemical stability and drug specificity.

There remain insufficiently addressed aspects and potential drawbacks regarding the application of DNA adduct monitoring in clinical settings. These issues include better definition of exposure strategies (i.e., *in vivo* therapeutic, subtherapeutic, and *ex-vivo* exposure). Monitoring DNA adducts in tumor biopsies or surrogate tissues after the first round of chemotherapy allows

direct measurement of the susceptibility of a patient to a DNA modifying drug at therapeutic and therefore realistic concentrations. However, this approach involves the patient undergoing potentially lethal treatment with the disadvantage of experiencing unwanted side effects, not getting the best treatment, or developing resistance. Therapy-induced DNA adducts may be seen as a limitation for their use as biomarkers compared to conventional biomarkers that do not involve inducing any perturbation (e.g., KRAS mutations, HER2 overexpression, or hormonal receptor status).

As an alternative, DNA adduct monitoring after microdose administration of the DNA modifying drug has the advantage of the patient receiving a low dose of the drug that is too low for inducing side effects. A challenge of monitoring DNA adducts upon microdose exposure concerns the availability of analytical approaches suitably sensitive to detect drug-induced DNA adducts resulting from such low microdoses.

A third strategy is DNA adduct monitoring in isolated tumor samples or surrogate tissues treated in vitro with DNA alkylating drugs (ex-vivo exposure). This strategy poses the lowest risk for the patient since it does not involve any patient treatment to obtain sensitivity information. Additionally, this strategy could be envisioned to allow for the evaluation of several DNA alkylating drugs as candidate treatment options instead of only one drug. However, in vitro sensitivity testing bears greater uncertainty regarding whether DNA adducts are predictive of in vivo responses. As a general limitation, the use of DNA adducts as biomarkers requires first applying a chemical exposure and then measuring the biological response, rather than a direct predictive read out of a marker inherently present in the biological sample. This limitation, however, is directly related to a major advantage of DNA adducts, namely, their high biological relevance since they reflect the response of the system to a relevant perturbation, rather than its resting status.

Other drawbacks include uncertainty over the type of tissue to analyze and the timing of sample collection. In most studies, samples have been collected over the first few days after initiation of chemotherapy (or after diagnostic microdosing). However, it remains unclear which is the best sampling time for translation of this research into useful diagnostics tests. Furthermore, differences in rates and efficiencies of DNA repair could influence adduct levels. For example, Bosken et al.¹⁶⁶ and Wang et al.⁸³ reported that responses to platinumbased chemotherapy in NSCLC patients depended on DNA repair capacity (DRC) in cultured T lymphocytes. DRC was determined by measuring the repair of a benzopyrene-DNA adducted plasmid transfected into patient-derived lymphocytes as a surrogate for nucleotide excision repair of cisplatin-DNA adducts. There was a significant inverse correlation between DRC and patient survival. While a thorough review of how to account for DNA repair capacity is outside the scope of this perspective, these results emphasize the importance of DNA repair processes for determining patient outcomes and therefore the need for appropriate sample collection timing for clinical samples. These concerns would be best answered in head-to-head clinical comparisons, with separate studies for each cancer drug and cancer type.

Most of the *in vivo* studies have utilized surrogates for tumor tissue such as buccal cells, lymphocytes, and PBMCs owing to the poor availability of tumor biopsy tissue after initial diagnosis. There are ethical and patient risk concerns related to additional invasive tumor biopsy sampling that makes tumor data analysis of drug–DNA adduct formation and repair difficult from a clinical trial perspective. Until this approach is clinically validated in a large prospective clinical trial, the measurement of drug–DNA adducts as a companion diagnostics strategy to guide existing chemotherapy drug selection or for the development of new drugs remains premature.

A further difficulty centers on the extremely low analyte abundance and difficulties in the measurement of adducts, but in the past years, techniques for analysis of DNA adducts have evolved and improved enormously in sensitivity and specificity. Most classical methods, such as ³²P-postlabeling and immunoassays, lack the sensitivity, and specificity necessary when analyzing patient-derived samples, and others are not compatible with the high-throughput expected in clinical applications. The entrance of mass spectrometry to the field of DNA adduct analysis has been transformative and represents the current state-of-the-art in terms of specificity and sensitivity. The high sensitivity and precision of AMS for measuring carbon isotope ratios has uniquely enabled drug-DNA adducts in clinical samples for the development of predictive diagnostic tests, particularly for diagnostic microdosing. While AMS does not provide direct structural information and requires specialized equipment and expertise compared to typical LC-MS approaches, it can be practical for clinical use as central testing laboratories are commonly utilized for other specialized tests and has greatly advanced studies in the context of platinum-based therapeutics. Future research to address increasing the sensitivity and throughput of DNA adduct analysis technologies, as well as practical improvements in sample preparation, are expected in the next few years to have a significant impact on improving DNA adduct analysis and thereby allow the more general feasibility of measuring druginduced DNA adducts in clinical settings.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*E-mail: sturlas@ethz.ch.

ORCID

Alessia Stornetta: 0000-0002-8287-9551

Funding

This work was supported by the European Research Council (260341 and 680920), the Swiss National Science Foundation (156280 and 152621), the ETH research commission (ETH-43 14-1), NIH grants CA93373, SBIR contracts to AMD Phase I HHSN261201000133C, Phase II HHSN261201200048C, LLNL grants LDRD 08-LW-100, NIH/NIGMS P41 RR13461, the American Cancer Society, and the Knapp Family Fund. Work was performed (partially) at the Research Resource for Biomedical AMS, which is operated at LLNL under the auspices of the U.S. Department of Energy under contract DE-AC52-07NA27344. The Research Resource is supported by the National Institutes of Health, National Center for Research Resources, Biomedical Technology Program grant P41 RR13461.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Alessia Stornetta was born in Bellinzona, in the Italian-speaking region of Switzerland. She completed her B.S. degree (2010) and M.S. degree (2012) at the ETH Zurich, the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology in Zurich, Switzerland. She has carried out doctoral research at the University of Minnesota and the ETH Zurich. At the time of writing, Alessia is close to completing her dissertation research project, which focuses on the development of bioanalytical techniques for evaluating chemical-induced damage to DNA and their use for understanding factors that influence the susceptibility of cells to chemical toxicity.

Dr. Maike Zimmermann received her Ph.D. in Biochemistry in 2012 from the University of Bielefeld in Germany. She conducted her graduate research at the Department of Pharmacology, University of California (UC), Davis with a focus on cancer cell cycle regulation, DNA damage response, and estrogen receptor antagonism. In 2013, she joined the UC Davis Department of Internal Medicine and Accelerated Medical Diagnostics as a Postdoctoral Scholar to perform research on diagnostic microdosing in cell culture, animal models, and cancer patients. This work utilizes Accelerator Mass Spectrometry to predict patient response to several cytotoxic chemotherapy drugs.

Dr. George Cimino obtained his Ph.D. in Biochemistry from UC Irvine, where he used biophysical spectroscopy to study the repair of UV-induced damage in DNA. As a postdoc at UC Berkeley, he utilized psoralens to probe secondary and tertiary structures in macro-molecular nucleic acid complexes. He continued work in the psoralen field with the application of psoralen-monoadducted oligonucleotides to diagnostics and then with the development and commercialization of DNA cross-linking agents for the inactivation of pathogens in transfusion products. In 2012, he joined Accelerated Medical Diagnostics to exploit the use of accelerated mass spectrometry with chemotherapy agents for predictive cancer diagnostics.

Dr. Paul Henderson received his Ph.D. in Organic Chemistry from the Georgia Institute of Technology in 1999, where he studied DNAcleavage upon exposure to light. He then obtained a NIH Postdoctoral Fellowship to join John Essigmann at MIT, where he studied the mutagenic effects of DNA oxidation using a bacteriophage model. In 2002, he joined Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, where he adapted the use of accelerator mass spectrometry to cancer research in collaboration with UC Davis. Since 2009, Paul has split his time between UC Davis and Accelerated Medical Diagnostics to validate the use of diagnostic microdosing in cancer therapy.

Dr. Shana J. Sturla was born in Brooklyn, NY. She obtained her B.S. degree in Chemistry at UC Berkeley in 1996 and Ph.D. degree in Chemistry at MIT in 2001. As a postdoctoral fellow of the American Cancer Society, she carried out research under the guidance of Stephen Hecht at the University of Minnesota concerning mechanisms of tobacco carcinogenesis. From 2004–2009, she was a Professor at the University of Minnesota, and since 2009 has been Professor of Toxicology at the ETH Zurich in Switzerland. Researchers in her lab address the chemical basis of disease incidence and treatment outcomes by investigating relationships among chemical structure, biotransformation, and cellular responses. Their website is www. toxicology.ethz.ch.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Susanne Geisen (ETH Zurich) for editorial assistance.

ABBREVIATIONS

AMS, accelerator mass spectrometry; AAS, atomic absorption spectroscopy; AF, acylfulvene; AMS, accelerator mass spectrometry; AUC, area under the curve; BER, base excision repair; BRCA1/2, breast cancer genes 1 and 2; CHO, Chinese hamster ovary; CTC, circulating tumor cell; dGuo, deoxyguanosine; DMC, 10-decarbamoyl mitomycin C; DOX,

doxorubicin; DRC, DNA repair capacity; DSB, double strand break; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; ESI, electrospray ionization; FACS, fluorescence-activated cell sorting; FA, Fanconi anemia; FDA, fluorescein diacetate assay; GDF, growth delay factor; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; GSH, glutathione; HAPs, hypoxia-activated prodrugs; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; HCR, host-cell reactivation; HCT, hematopoietic cell transplantation; HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HPLC, high performance liquid chromatography; HPV, human papilloma virus; ICC, immunocytochemistry; ICL, interstrand cross-link; ICP, inductively coupled plasma; IHC, immunohistochemistry; INR, international normalized ratio; KRAS, Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homologue; LC, liquid chromatography; LOQ, limit of quantification; LSC, liquid scintillation counting; LSI, laser spray ionization; MC, mitomycin C; MS, mass spectrometry; MTA, microculture tetrazolium assay; MTS, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium; MTT, 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazolyl-2)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; NER, nucleotide excision repair; NSCLC, non-small-cell lung cancer; PBLs, peripheral blood lymphocytes; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cell; PDX, patient derived xenograft; PM, porfiromycin; PSA, prostate specific antigen; PTGR1, prostaglandin reductase 1; QPCR, quantitative polymerase chain reaction; RAGE, rotating field gel electrophoresis; RT, radiation therapy; SF, sulforaphane; SRB, sulforhodamine B; SSB, single strand breaks; T/ C, treated/control; TPZ, tirapazamine; VEGFR, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor; WBC, white blood cell; γ H2AX, gamma phosphorylation of histone H2AX

REFERENCES

(1) Polyak, K., Shipitsin, M., Campbell-Marrotta, L. L., Bloushtain-Qimron, N., and Park, S. Y. (2009) Breast tumor heterogeneity: causes and consequences. *Breast Cancer Res.* 11, S18.

(2) Polyak, K., and Kalluri, R. (2010) The Role of the Microenvironment in Mammary Gland Development and Cancer. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspect. Biol.* 2, a003244.

(3) van't Veer, L. J., and Bernards, R. (2008) Enabling personalized cancer medicine through analysis of gene-expression patterns. *Nature* 452, 564–570.

(4) Kelloff, G. J., and Sigman, C. C. (2012) Cancer biomarkers: selecting the right drug for the right patient. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery* 11, 201–214.

(5) Park, J. W., Kerbel, R. S., Kelloff, G. J., Barrett, J. C., Chabner, B. A., Parkinson, D. R., Peck, J., Ruddon, R. W., Sigman, C. C., and Slamon, D. J. (2004) Rationale for biomarkers and surrogate end points in mechanism-driven oncology drug development. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10, 3885–3896.

(6) Cimino, G. D., Pan, C.-X., and Henderson, P. T. (2013) Personalized medicine for targeted and platinum-based chemotherapy of lung and bladder cancer. *Bioanalysis* 5, 369–391.

(7) Farmer, P. B. (1987) Metabolism and reactions of alkylating agents. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 35, 301–358.

(8) Rajski, S. R., and Williams, R. M. (1998) DNA Cross-Linking Agents as Antitumor Drugs. *Chem. Rev.* 98, 2723–2796.

(9) Povirk, L. F., and Shuker, D. E. (1994) DNA damage and mutagenesis induced by nitrogen mustards. *Mutat. Res., Rev. Genet. Toxicol.* 318, 205–226.

(10) Harris, C. C. (1991) Chemical and physical carcinogenesis: advances and perspectives for the 1990s. *Cancer Res. 51*, 5023s-5044s.
(11) Hecht, S. S. (1999) Tobacco smoke carcinogens and lung

cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 91, 1194–1210. (12) Singer, B., and Grunberger, D. (1983) Molecular Biology of Mutagens and Carcinogens, Plenum Press, New York. (13) Cheung-Ong, K., Giaever, G., and Nislow, C. (2013) DNAdamaging agents in cancer chemotherapy: serendipity and chemical biology. *Chem. Biol.* 20, 648–659.

(14) Fu, D., Calvo, J. A., and Samson, L. D. (2012) Balancing repair and tolerance of DNA damage caused by alkylating agents. *Nat. Rev. Cancer 12*, 104–120.

(15) Nestmann, E. R., Bryant, D. W., and Carr, C. J. (1996) Toxicological significance of DNA adducts: summary of discussions with an expert panel. *Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol.* 24, 9–18.

(16) Farmer, P. B., Brown, K., Tompkins, E., Emms, V. L., Jones, D. J. L., Singh, R., and Phillips, D. H. (2005) DNA adducts: Mass spectrometry methods and future prospects. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 207, 293–301.

(17) Farmer, P. B., and Singh, R. (2008) Use of DNA adducts to identify human health risk from exposure to hazardous environmental pollutants: The increasing role of mass spectrometry in assessing biologically effective doses of genotoxic carcinogens. *Mutat. Res., Rev. Mutat. Res.*, 659, 68–76.

(18) Otteneder, M., and Lutz, W. K. (1999) Correlation of DNA adduct levels with tumor incidence: carcinogenic potency of DNA adducts. *Mutat. Res., Fundam. Mol. Mech. Mutagen.* 424, 237–247.

(19) Tretyakova, N., Villalta, P. W., and Kotapati, S. (2013) Mass Spectrometry of Structurally Modified DNA. *Chem. Rev.* 113, 2395– 2436.

(20) Tretyakova, N., Goggin, M., Sangaraju, D., and Janis, G. (2012) Quantitation of DNA Adducts by Stable Isotope Dilution Mass Spectrometry. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 25, 2007–2035.

(21) Brown, K. (2012) Methods for the detection of DNA adducts. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 817, 207–230.

(22) Kohn, K. W., and Grimek-Ewig, R. A. (1973) Alkaline elution analysis, a new approach to the study of DNA single-strand interruptions in cells. *Cancer Res.* 33, 1849–1853.

(23) Kohn, K. W., Erickson, L. C., Ewig, R. A., and Friedman, C. A. (1976) Fractionation of DNA from mammalian cells by alkaline elution. *Biochemistry 15*, 4629–4637.

(24) Kohn, K. W. (1979) DNA as a target in cancer chemotherapy: measurement of macromolecular DNA damage produced in mammalian cells by anticancer agents and carcinogens. *Methods Cancer Res.*, 291–345.

(25) Hartmann, A., Agurell, E., Beevers, C., Brendler-Schwaab, S., Burlinson, B., Clay, P., Collins, A., Smith, A., Speit, G., Thybaud, V., Tice, R. R., and th International Comet Assay, W. (2003) Recommendations for conducting the in vivo alkaline Comet assay. 4th International Comet Assay Workshop. *Mutagenesis 18*, 45–51.

(26) Nadin, S. B., Vargas-Roig, L. M., Drago, G., Ibarra, J., and Ciocca, D. R. (2006) DNA damage and repair in peripheral blood lymphocytes from healthy individuals and cancer patients: A pilot study on the implications in the clinical response to chemotherapy. *Cancer Lett.* 239, 84–97.

(27) Unger, F. T., Klasen, H. A., Tchartchian, G., de Wilde, R. L., and Witte, I. (2009) DNA damage induced by cis- and carboplatin as indicator for in vitro sensitivity of ovarian carcinoma cells. *BMC Cancer 9*, 359.

(28) Robinson, J. W. (1960) Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy. Anal. Chem. 32, 17A.

(29) Phillips, D. H., Farmer, P. B., Beland, F. A., Nath, R. G., Poirier, M. C., Reddy, M. V., and Turteltaub, K. W. (2000) Methods of DNA adduct determination and their application to testing compounds for genotoxicity. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* 35, 222–233.

(30) Buss, P., Caviezel, M., and Lutz, W. K. (1990) Linear doseresponse relationship for DNA adducts in rat liver from chronic exposure to aflatoxin B1. *Carcinogenesis* 11, 2133–2135.

(31) Lutz, W. K. (1986) Quantitative evaluation of DNA binding data for risk estimation and for classification of direct and indirect carcinogens. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 112, 85–91.

(32) Randerath, K., Reddy, M. V., and Gupta, R. C. (1981) 32Plabeling test for DNA damage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 78, 6126– 6129. (33) Gupta, R. C. (1985) Enhanced sensitivity of 32P-postlabeling analysis of aromatic carcinogen:DNA adducts. *Cancer Res.* 45, 5656–5662.

(34) Reddy, M. V., and Randerath, K. (1986) Nuclease P1-mediated enhancement of sensitivity of 32P-postlabeling test for structurally diverse DNA adducts. *Carcinogenesis* 7, 1543–1551.

(35) Randerath, K., and Randerath, E. (1994) 32P-postlabeling methods for DNA adduct detection: overview and critical evaluation. *Drug Metab. Rev.* 26, 67–85.

(36) Phillips, D. H. (1997) Detection of DNA modifications by the P-32-postlabelling assay. *Mutat. Res., Fundam. Mol. Mech. Mutagen.* 378, 1–12.

(37) Izzotti, A. (1998) Detection of modified DNA nucleotides by postlabeling procedures. *Toxicol. Methods* 8, 175–205.

(38) Stiborova, M., Frei, E., Bieler, C. A., and Schmeiser, H. H. (1998) P-32-postlabelling: A sensitive technique for the detection of DNA adducts. *Chem. Listy* 92, 661–668.

(39) Poirier, M. C. (1993) Antisera specific for carcinogen-DNA adducts and carcinogen-modified DNA: applications for detection of xenobiotics in biological samples. *Mutat. Res., Fundam. Mol. Mech. Mutagen.* 288, 31–38.

(40) Poirier, M. C., and Weston, A. (1991) DNA adduct determination in humans. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 372, 205–218.

(41) Weston, A., and Poirier, M. C. (1994) Development of Methods for Chemical Carcinogen-DNA Adduct Determination in Human Tissues, Noyes Publications, Saddle River, NJ.

(42) Poirier, M. C., Lippard, S. J., Zwelling, L. A., Ushay, H. M., Kerrigan, D., Thill, C. C., Santella, R. M., Grunberger, D., and Yuspa, S. H. (1982) Antibodies elicited against cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II)-modified DNA are specific for cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II)-DNA adducts formed in vivo and in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 79, 6443-6447.

(43) Lippard, S. J., Ushay, H. M., Merkel, C. M., and Poirier, M. C. (1983) Use of Antibodies to Probe the Stereochemistry of Anti-Tumor Platinum Drug-Binding to Deoxyribonucleic-Acid. *Biochemistry* 22, 5165–5168.

(44) Reed, E., Ozols, R. F., Tarone, R., Yuspa, S. H., and Poirier, M. C. (1988) The measurement of cisplatin-DNA adduct levels in testicular cancer patients. *Carcinogenesis 9*, 1909–1911.

(45) Reed, E., Ozols, R. F., Tarone, R., Yuspa, S. H., and Poirier, M. C. (1987) Platinum-DNA adducts in leukocyte DNA correlate with disease response in ovarian cancer patients receiving platinum-based chemotherapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 84, 5024–5028.

(46) Poirier, M. C., Reed, E., Zwelling, L. A., Ozols, R. F., Litterst, C. L., and Yuspa, S. H. (1985) Polyclonal antibodies to quantitate cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II)–DNA adducts in cancer patients and animal models. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 62, 89–94.

(47) Gupta-Burt, S., Shamkhani, H., Reed, E., Tarone, R. E., Allegra, C. J., Pai, L. H., and Poirier, M. C. (1993) Relationship between patient response in ovarian and breast cancer and platinum drug-DNA adduct formation. *Cancer Epidemiol., Biomarkers Prev.* 2, 229–234.

(48) Reed, E., Yuspa, S. H., Zwelling, L. A., Ozols, R. F., and Poirier, M. C. (1986) Quantitation of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum II (cisplatin)-DNA-intrastrand adducts in testicular and ovarian cancer

patients receiving cisplatin chemotherapy. J. Clin. Invest. 77, 545–550. (49) Reed, E., Parker, R. J., Gill, I., Bicher, A., Dabholkar, M., Vionnet, J. A., Bostick-Bruton, F., Tarone, R., and Muggia, F. M. (1993) Platinum-DNA adduct in leukocyte DNA of a cohort of 49 patients with 24 different types of malignancies. *Cancer Res.* 53, 3694– 3699.

(50) Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., van der Velde-Visser, S. D., van Dijk-Knijnenburg, H. C., van Oosterom, A. T., Baan, R. A., and Berends, F. (1990) Kinetics of the formation and removal of cisplatin-DNA adducts in blood cells and tumor tissue of cancer patients receiving chemotherapy: comparison with in vitro adduct formation. *Cancer Res.* 50, 7887–7894.

(51) Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., van Oosterom, A. T., Lohman, P. H., and Berends, F. (1987) cis-Diamminedichloroplatinum(II)induced DNA adducts in peripheral leukocytes from seven cancer patients: quantitative immunochemical detection of the adduct induction and removal after a single dose of cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II). *Cancer Res.* 47, 3000–3004.

(52) Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., Baan, R. A., Luiten-Schuite, A., van Dijk, M., and Lohman, P. H. (1985) Immunochemical quantitation of adducts induced in DNA by cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (II) and analysis of adduct-related DNA-unwinding. *Chem.-Biol. Interact.* 55, 275–288.

(53) Nel, I., Gauler, T. C., Eberhardt, W. E., Nickel, A. C., Schuler, M., Thomale, J., and Hoffmann, A. C. (2013) Formation and repair kinetics of Pt-(GpG) DNA adducts in extracted circulating tumour cells and response to platinum treatment. *Br. J. Cancer 109*, 1223–1229.

(54) Boffetta, P., Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., Weiderpass, E., van Dijk-Knijnenburg, H. C., Stoter, G., van Oosterom, A. T., Keizer, H. J., Fossa, S. D., Kaldor, J., and Roy, P. (1998) Cisplatin-DNA adducts and protein-bound platinum in blood of testicular cancer patients. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 9, 125–129.

(55) Reed, E., Ostchega, Y., Steinberg, S. M., Yuspa, S. H., Young, R. C., Ozols, R. F., and Poirier, M. C. (1990) Evaluation of platinum-DNA adduct levels relative to known prognostic variables in a cohort of ovarian cancer patients. *Cancer Res.* 50, 2256–2260.

(56) Koc, H., and Swenberg, J. A. (2002) Applications of mass spectrometry for quantitation of DNA adducts. J. Chromatogr. B: Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 778, 323–343.

(57) Cooper, B. W., Veal, G. J., Radivoyevitch, T., Tilby, M. J., Meyerson, H. J., Lazarus, H. M., Koc, O. N., Creger, R. J., Pearson, G., Nowell, G. M., Gosky, D., Ingalls, S. T., Hoppel, C. L., and Gerson, S. L. (2004) A phase I and pharmacodynamic study of fludarabine, carboplatin, and topotecan in patients with relapsed, refractory, or high-risk acute leukemia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10, 6830–6839.

(58) Dabholkar, M., Bradshaw, L., Parker, R. J., Gill, I., Bostick-Bruton, F., Muggia, F. M., and Reed, E. (1992) Cisplatin-DNA damage and repair in peripheral blood leukocytes in vivo and in vitro. *Environmental Health Prospectives* 98, 53–59.

(59) Harrington, C. F., Le Pla, R. C., Jones, G. D., Thomas, A. L., and Farmer, P. B. (2010) Determination of cisplatin 1,2-intrastrand guanine-guanine DNA adducts in human leukocytes by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 23, 1313–1321.

(60) Beauchemin, D. (2008) Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 80, 4455–4486.

(61) Sanz-Medel, A., Montes-Bayon, M., del Rosario Fernandez de la Campa, M., Encinar, J. R., and Bettmer, J. (2008) Elemental mass spectrometry for quantitative proteomics. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 390, 3–16.

(62) Yamada, K., Kato, N., Takagi, A., Koi, M., and Hemmi, H. (2005) One-milliliter wet-digestion for inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS): determination of platinum-DNA adducts in cells treated with platinum(II) complexes. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 382, 1702–1707.

(63) Chen, S. J., Kuo, C. C., Pan, H. Y., Tsou, T. C., Yeh, S. C., and Chang, J. Y. (2015) Mechanistic basis of a combination D-penicillamine and platinum drugs synergistically inhibits tumor growth in oxaliplatin-resistant human cervical cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. *Biochem. Pharmacol. 95*, 28–37.

(64) Bonetti, A., Apostoli, P., Zaninelli, M., Pavanel, F., Colombatti, M., Cetto, G. L., Franceschi, T., Sperotto, L., and Leone, R. (1996) Inductively coupled plasma mass spectroscopy quantitation of platinum-DNA adducts in peripheral blood leukocytes of patients receiving cisplatin- or carboplatin-based chemotherapy. *Clin. Cancer Res. 2*, 1829–1835.

(65) Jarvis, I. W. H., Meczes, E. L., Thomas, H. D., Edmondson, R. J., Veal, G. J., Boddy, A. V., Ottley, C. J., Pearson, D. G., and Tilby, M. J. (2012) Therapy-induced carboplatin-DNA adduct levels in human ovarian tumours in relation to assessment of adduct measurement in mouse tissues. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 83, 69–77.

(66) Yang, Z., Faustino, P. J., Andrews, P. A., Monastra, R., Rasmussen, A. A., Ellison, C. D., and Cullen, K. J. (2000) Decreased

cisplatin/DNA adduct formation is associated with cisplatin resistance in human head and neck cancer cell lines. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 46, 255–262.

(67) Morrison, J., Bissett, D., Stephens, I., McKay, K., Brown, R., Graham, M., Fichtingerschepman, A., and Kerr, D. (1993) The isolation and identification of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (ii)-DNA adducts by anion-exchange HPLC and inductively coupled plasma mass-spectrometry. *Int. J. Oncol.* 2, 33–37.

(68) Brouwers, E. E., Tibben, M. M., Pluim, D., Rosing, H., Boot, H., Cats, A., Schellens, J. H., and Beijnen, J. H. (2008) Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometric analysis of the total amount of platinum in DNA extracts from peripheral blood mononuclear cells and tissue from patients treated with cisplatin. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 391, 577–585.

(69) Elmore, D. (1987) Ultrasensitive radioisotope, stable-isotope, and trace-element analysis in the biological sciences using tandem accelerator mass spectrometry. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 12, 231–245.

(70) Vogel, J. S., Turteltaub, K. W., Finkel, R., and Nelson, D. E. (1995) Accelerator mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 67, 353A-359A.

(71) Creek, M. R., Mani, C., Vogel, J. S., and Turteltaub, K. W. (1997) Tissue distribution and macromolecular binding of extremely low doses of [14C]-benzene in B6C3F1 mice. *Carcinogenesis 18*, 2421–2427.

(72) Frantz, C. E., Bangerter, C., Fultz, E., Mayer, K. M., Vogel, J. S., and Turteltaub, K. W. (1995) Dose-response studies of MeIQx in rat liver and liver DNA at low doses. *Carcinogenesis* 16, 367–373.

(73) Kautiainen, A., Vogel, J. S., and Turteltaub, K. W. (1997) Dosedependent binding of trichloroethylene to hepatic DNA and protein at low doses in mice. *Chem.-Biol. Interact.* 106, 109–121.

(74) Poirier, M. C. (1997) DNA adducts as exposure biomarkers and indicators of cancer risk. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 105 (Suppl 4), 907–912.

(75) Wheate, N. J., Walker, S., Craig, G. E., and Oun, R. (2010) The status of platinum anticancer drugs in the clinic and in clinical trials. *Dalton transactions* 39, 8113–8127.

(76) Dilruba, S., and Kalayda, G. V. (2016) Platinum-based drugs: past, present and future. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 77, 1103–1124.

(77) Kelland, L. (2007) The resurgence of platinum-based cancer chemotherapy. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 7, 573–584.

(78) Wang, D., and Lippard, S. J. (2005) Cellular processing of platinum anticancer drugs. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery* 4, 307–320.

(79) Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Michels, J., Brenner, C., Szabadkai, G., Harel-Bellan, A., Castedo, M., and Kroemer, G. (2014) Systems biology of cisplatin resistance: past, present and future. *Cell Death Dis. 5*, e1257.

(80) Poirier, M. C., Reed, E., Shamkhani, H., Tarone, R. E., and Gupta-Burt, S. (1993) Platinum drug-DNA interactions in human tissues measured by cisplatin-DNA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and atomic absorbance spectroscopy. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 99, 149–154.

(81) Peng, B., Tilby, M. J., English, M. W., Price, L., Pearson, A. D., Boddy, A. V., and Newell, D. R. (1997) Platinum-DNA adduct formation in leucocytes of children in relation to pharmacokinetics after cisplatin and carboplatin therapy. *Br. J. Cancer* 76, 1466–1473.

(82) Hoebers, F. J., Pluim, D., Verheij, M., Balm, A. J., Bartelink, H., Schellens, J. H., and Begg, A. C. (2006) Prediction of treatment outcome by cisplatin-DNA adduct formation in patients with stage III/ IV head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, treated by concurrent cisplatin-radiation (RADPLAT). *Int. J. Cancer* 119, 750–756.

(83) Wang, L. E., Yin, M., Dong, Q., Stewart, D. J., Merriman, K. W., Amos, C. I., Spitz, M. R., and Wei, Q. Y. (2011) DNA Repair Capacity in Peripheral Lymphocytes Predicts Survival of Patients With Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Treated With First-Line Platinum-Based Chemotherapy. J. Clin. Oncol. 29, 4121–4128.

(84) Kim, E. S., Lee, J. J., He, G., Chow, C. W., Fujimoto, J., Kalhor, N., Swisher, S. G., Wistuba, II, Stewart, D. J., and Siddik, Z. H. (2012) Tissue platinum concentration and tumor response in non-small-cell lung cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 30, 3345–3352.

(85) van de Vaart, P. J., Belderbos, J., de Jong, D., Sneeuw, K. C., Majoor, D., Bartelink, H., and Begg, A. C. (2000) DNA-adduct levels as a predictor of outcome for NSCLC patients receiving daily cisplatin and radiotherapy. *Int. J. Cancer 89*, 160–166.

(86) Pieck, A. C., Drescher, A., Wiesmann, K. G., Messerschmidt, J., Weber, G., Strumberg, D., Hilger, R. A., Scheulen, M. E., and Jaehde, U. (2008) Oxaliplatin-DNA adduct formation in white blood cells of cancer patients. *Br. J. Cancer* 98, 1959–1965.

(87) Veal, G. J., Dias, C., Price, L., Parry, A., Errington, J., Hale, J., Pearson, A. D., Boddy, A. V., Newell, D. R., and Tilby, M. J. (2001) Influence of cellular factors and pharmacokinetics on the formation of platinum-DNA adducts in leukocytes of children receiving cisplatin therapy. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 7, 2205–2212.

(88) Fisch, M. J., Howard, K. L., Einhorn, L. H., and Sledge, G. W. (1996) Relationship between platinum-DNA adducts in leukocytes of patients with advanced germ cell cancer and survival. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2, 1063–1066.

(89) Motzer, R. J., Reed, E., Perera, F., Tang, D., Shamkhani, H., Poirier, M. C., Tsai, W. Y., Parker, R. J., and Bosl, G. J. (1994) Platinum-DNA adducts assayed in leukocytes of patients with germ cell tumors measured by atomic absorbance spectrometry and enzymelinked immunosorbent assay. *Cancer* 73, 2843–2852.

(90) Jiang, S., Pan, A. W., Lin, T. Y., Zhang, H. Y., Malfatti, M., Turteltaub, K., Henderson, P. T., and Pan, C. X. (2015) Paclitaxel Enhances Carboplatin-DNA Adduct Formation and Cytotoxicity. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 28, 2250–2252.

(91) Zimmermann, M., Wang, S. S., Zhang, H., Lin, T. Y., Malfatti, M., Haack, K., Ognibene, T., Yang, H., Airhart, S., Turteltaub, K., Cimino, G., Tepper, C. G., Drakaki, A., Chamie, K., de Vere White, R., Pan, C. X., and Henderson, P. (2016) Microdose-induced Drug-DNA Adducts as Biomarkers of Chemotherapy Resistance in Humans and Mice. *Mol. Cancer Ther.*, DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0381.

(92) Wang, S. S., Zhang, H. Y., Scharadin, T. M., Zimmermann, M., Hu, B., Pan, A. W., Vinall, R., Lin, T. Y., Cimino, G., Chain, P., Vuyisich, M., Gleasner, C., Mcmurry, K., Malfatti, M., Turteltaub, K., White, R. D., Pan, C. X., and Henderson, P. T. (2016) Molecular Dissection of Induced Platinum Resistance through Functional and Gene Expression Analysis in a Cell Culture Model of Bladder Cancer. *PLoS One 11*, e0146256.

(93) Henderson, P. T., Li, T., He, M. L., Zhang, H. Y., Malfatti, M., Gandara, D., Grimminger, P. P., Danenberg, K. D., Beckett, L., White, R. W. D., Turteltaub, K. W., and Pan, C. X. (2011) A microdosing approach for characterizing formation and repair of carboplatin-DNA monoadducts and chemoresistance. *Int. J. Cancer* 129, 1425–1434.

(94) Hah, S. S., Sumbad, R. A., de Vere White, R. W., Turteltaub, K. W., and Henderson, P. T. (2007) Characterization of oxaliplatin-DNA adduct formation in DNA and differentiation of cancer cell drug sensitivity at microdose concentrations. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 20, 1745–1751.

(95) Hah, S. S., Stivers, K. M., de Vere White, R. W., and Henderson, P. T. (2006) Kinetics of carboplatin-DNA binding in genomic DNA and bladder cancer cells as determined by accelerator mass spectrometry. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 19, 622–626.

(96) Wang, S., Zhang, H., Malfatti, M., de Vere White, R., Lara, P. N., Jr., Turteltaub, K., Henderson, P., and Pan, C. X. (2010) Gemcitabine causes minimal modulation of carboplatin-DNA monoadduct formation and repair in bladder cancer cells. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 23, 1653–1655.

(97) Scharadin, T. M., Zhang, H., Zimmermann, M., Wang, S., Malfatti, M. A., Cimino, G. D., Turteltaub, K. W., de Vere White, R. W., Pan, C. X., and Henderson, P. T. (2016) A diagnostic microdosing approach to study gemcitabine resistance. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 29, 1843. (98) Hansson, J., Lewensohn, R., Ringborg, U., and Nilsson, B. (1987) Formation and Removal of DNA Cross-Links Induced by Melphalan and Nitrogen-Mustard in Relation to Drug-Induced Cytotoxicity in Human-Melanoma Cells. *Cancer Res.* 47, 2631–2637. (99) Hansson, J., Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., Edgren, M., and Ringborg, U. (1991) Comparative study of two human melanoma cell

lines with different sensitivities to mustine and cisplatin. *Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol.* 27, 1039–1045.

(100) Ducore, J. M., Erickson, L. C., Zwelling, L. A., Laurent, G., and Kohn, K. W. (1982) Comparative studies of DNA cross-linking and cytotoxicity in Burkitt's lymphoma cell lines treated with cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II) and L-phenylalanine mustard. *Cancer Res.* 42, 897–902.

(101) Rothbarth, J., Koevoets, C., Tollenaar, R. A. E. M., Tilby, M. J., van de Velde, C. J. H., Mulder, G. J., and Kuppen, P. J. K. (2004) Immunohistochemical detection of melphalan-DNA adducts in colon cancer cells in vitro and human colorectal liver tumours in vivo. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 67, 1771–1778.

(102) Zwelling, L. A., Michaels, S., Schwartz, H., Dobson, P. P., and Kohn, K. W. (1981) DNA cross-linking as an indicator of sensitivity and resistance of mouse L1210 leukemia to cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II) and L-phenylalanine mustard. *Cancer Res.* 41, 640–649.

(103) Panasci, L., Henderson, D., Torresgarcia, S. J., Skalski, V., Caplan, S., and Hutchinson, M. (1988) Transport, Metabolism, and DNA Interaction of Melphalan in Lymphocytes from Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic-Leukemia. *Cancer Res.* 48, 1972–1976.

(104) Souliotis, V. L., Dimopoulos, M. A., and Sfikakis, P. P. (2003) Gene-specific formation and repair of DNA monoadducts and interstrand cross-links after therapeutic exposure to nitrogen mustards. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 9, 4465–4474.

(105) Hengstler, J. G., Fuchs, J., and Oesch, F. (1992) DNA strand breaks and DNA cross-links in peripheral mononuclear blood cells of ovarian cancer patients during chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide/ carboplatin. *Cancer Res.* 52, 5622–5626.

(106) Johnson, L. A., Malayappan, B., Tretyakova, N., Campbell, C., MacMillan, M. L., Wagner, J. E., and Jacobson, P. A. (2012) Formation of cyclophosphamide specific DNA adducts in hematological diseases. *Pediatric blood & cancer 58*, 708–714.

(107) Hunter, F. W., Wouters, B. G., and Wilson, W. R. (2016) Hypoxia-activated prodrugs: paths forward in the era of personalised medicine. *Br. J. Cancer* 114, 1071–1077.

(108) Wilson, W. R., and Hay, M. P. (2011) Targeting hypoxia in cancer therapy. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 11, 393–410.

(109) Brown, J. M., and Wilson, W. R. (2004) Exploiting tumour hypoxia in cancer treatment. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 4, 437–447.

(110) Brown, J. M. (1993) SR 4233 (tirapazamine): a new anticancer drug exploiting hypoxia in solid tumours. *Br. J. Cancer* 67, 1163–1170.

(111) Wang, J., Biedermann, K. A., and Brown, J. M. (1992) Repair of DNA and chromosome breaks in cells exposed to SR 4233 under hypoxia or to ionizing radiation. *Cancer Res.* 52, 4473–4477.

(112) von Pawel, J., von Roemeling, R., Gatzemeier, U., Boyer, M., Elisson, L. O., Clark, P., Talbot, D., Rey, A., Butler, T. W., Hirsh, V., Olver, I., Bergman, B., Ayoub, J., Richardson, G., Dunlop, D., Arcenas, A., Vescio, R., Viallet, J., and Treat, J. (2000) Tirapazamine plus cisplatin versus cisplatin in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: A report of the international CATAPULT I study group. Cisplatin and Tirapazamine in Subjects with Advanced Previously Untreated Non-Small-Cell Lung Tumors. J. Clin. Oncol. 18, 1351–1359.

(113) Rischin, D., Peters, L., Fisher, R., Macann, A., Denham, J., Poulsen, M., Jackson, M., Kenny, L., Penniment, M., Corry, J., Lamb, D., and McClure, B. (2005) Tirapazamine, Cisplatin, and Radiation versus Fluorouracil, Cisplatin, and Radiation in patients with locally advanced head and neck cancer: a randomized phase II trial of the Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group (TROG 98.02). J. Clin. Oncol. 23, 79–87.

(114) Siim, B. G., van Zijl, P. L., and Brown, J. M. (1996) Tirapazamine-induced DNA damage measured using the comet assay correlates with cytotoxicity towards hypoxic tumour cells in vitro. *Br. J. Cancer* 73, 952–960.

(115) Siim, B. G., Menke, D. R., Dorie, M. J., and Brown, J. M. (1997) Tirapazamine-induced cytotoxicity and DNA damage in transplanted tumors: relationship to tumor hypoxia. *Cancer Res. 57*, 2922–2928.

(116) Houghton, P. J., Lock, R., Carol, H., Morton, C. L., Phelps, D., Gorlick, R., Kolb, E. A., Keir, S. T., Reynolds, C. P., Kang, M. H., Maris, J. M., Wozniak, A. W., Gu, Y., Wilson, W. R., and Smith, M. A. (2011) Initial testing of the hypoxia-activated prodrug PR-104 by the pediatric preclinical testing program. *Pediatric blood & cancer 57*, 443–453.

(117) Konopleva, M., Thall, P. F., Yi, C. A., Borthakur, G., Coveler, A., Bueso-Ramos, C., Benito, J., Konoplev, S., Gu, Y., Ravandi, F., Jabbour, E., Faderl, S., Thomas, D., Cortes, J., Kadia, T., Kornblau, S., Daver, N., Pemmaraju, N., Nguyen, H. Q., Feliu, J., Lu, H., Wei, C., Wilson, W. R., Melink, T. J., Gutheil, J. C., Andreeff, M., Estey, E. H., and Kantarjian, H. (2015) Phase I/II study of the hypoxia-activated prodrug PR104 in refractory/relapsed acute myeloid leukemia and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica 100*, 927–934.

(118) Guise, C. P., Abbattista, M. R., Tipparaju, S. R., Lambie, N. K., Su, J., Li, D., Wilson, W. R., Dachs, G. U., and Patterson, A. V. (2012) Diflavin Oxidoreductases Activate the Bioreductive Prodrug PR-104A under Hypoxia. *Mol. Pharmacol. 81*, 31–40.

(119) Patterson, A. V., Ferry, D. M., Edmunds, S. J., Gu, Y., Singleton, R. S., Patel, K., Pullen, S. M., Hicks, K. O., Syddall, S. P., Atwell, G. J., Yang, S., Denny, W. A., and Wilson, W. R. (2007) Mechanism of Action and Preclinical Antitumor Activity of the Novel Hypoxia-Activated DNA Cross-Linking Agent PR-104. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 13, 3922–3932.

(120) Guise, C. P., Wang, A. T., Theil, A., Bridewell, D. J., Wilson, W. R., and Patterson, A. V. (2007) Identification of human reductases that activate the dinitrobenzamide mustard prodrug PR-104A: A role for NADPH:cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase under hypoxia. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 74, 810–820.

(121) Guise, C. P., Abbattista, M. R., Singleton, R. S., Holford, S. D., Connolly, J., Dachs, G. U., Fox, S. B., Pollock, R., Harvey, J., Guilford, P., Doñate, F., Wilson, W. R., and Patterson, A. V. (2010) The Bioreductive Prodrug PR-104A Is Activated under Aerobic Conditions by Human Aldo-Keto Reductase 1C3. *Cancer Res.* 70, 1573–1584.

(122) Singleton, R. S., Guise, C. P., Ferry, D. M., Pullen, S. M., Dorie, M. J., Brown, J. M., Patterson, A. V., and Wilson, W. R. (2009) DNA Cross-Links in Human Tumor Cells Exposed to the Prodrug PR-104A: Relationships to Hypoxia, Bioreductive Metabolism, and Cytotoxicity. *Cancer Res.* 69, 3884–3891.

(123) Stornetta, A., Villalta, P. W., Hecht, S. S., Sturla, S. J., and Balbo, S. (2015) Screening for DNA Alkylation Mono and Cross-Linked Adducts with a Comprehensive LC-MS(3) Adductomic Approach. *Anal. Chem.* 87, 11706–11713.

(124) Erzinger, M. M., Bovet, C., Hecht, K. M., Senger, S., Winiker, P., Sobotzki, N., Cristea, S., Beerenwinkel, N., Shay, J. W., Marra, G., Wollscheid, B., and Sturla, S. J. (2016) Sulforaphane Preconditioning Sensitizes Human Colon Cancer Cells towards the Bioreductive Anticancer Prodrug PR-104A. *PLoS One 11*, e0150219.

(125) Hata, T., Hoshi, T., Kanamori, K., Matsumae, A., Sano, Y., Shima, T., and Sugawara, R. (1956) Mitomycin, a new antibiotic from Streptomyces. I. J. Antibiot. 9, 141–146.

(126) Tomasz, M., Lipman, R., Chowdary, D., Pawlak, J., Verdine, G. L., and Nakanishi, K. (1987) Isolation and structure of a covalent cross-link adduct between mitomycin C and DNA. *Science* 235, 1204–1208.

(127) Tomasz, M. (1995) Mitomycin C: small, fast and deadly (but very selective). *Chem. Biol.* 2, 575–579.

(128) Bargonetti, J., Champeil, E., and Tomasz, M. (2010) Differential toxicity of DNA adducts of mitomycin C. J. Nucleic Acids 2010, 1–6.

(129) Kinoshita, S., Uzu, K., Nakano, K., and Takahashi, T. (1971) Mitomycin derivatives. 2. Derivatives of decarbamoylmitosane and decarbamoylmitosene. *J. Med. Chem.* 14, 109–112.

(130) Carrano, A. V., Thompson, L. H., Stetka, D. G., Minkler, J. L., Mazrimas, J. A., and Fong, S. (1979) DNA crosslinking, sisterchromatid exchange and specific-locus mutations. *Mutat. Res., Fundam. Mol. Mech. Mutagen.* 63, 175–188.

(131) Tomasz, M., Lipman, R., Mcguinness, B. F., and Nakanishi, K. (1988) Isolation and Characterization of a Major Adduct between Mitomycin-C and DNA. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 110, 5892–5896.

(132) Palom, Y., Suresh Kumar, G., Tang, L. Q., Paz, M. M., Musser, S. M., Rockwell, S., and Tomasz, M. (2002) Relative toxicities of DNA cross-links and monoadducts: new insights from studies of decarbamoyl mitomycin C and mitomycin C. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 15, 1398–1406.

(133) Paz, M. M., Ladwa, S., Champeil, E., Liu, Y., Rockwell, S., Boamah, E. K., Bargonetti, J., Callahan, J., Roach, J., and Tomasz, M. (2008) Mapping DNA adducts of mitomycin C and decarbamoyl mitomycin C in cell lines using liquid chromatography/ electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 21, 2370–2378.

(134) Fracasso, P. M., and Sartorelli, A. C. (1986) Cytotoxicity and DNA lesions produced by mitomycin C and porfiromycin in hypoxic and aerobic EMT6 and Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Cancer Res.* 46, 3939–3944.

(135) Palom, Y., Belcourt, M. F., Kumar, G. S., Arai, H., Kasai, M., Sartorelli, A. C., Rockwell, S., and Tomasz, M. (1998) Formation of a major DNA adduct of the mitomycin metabolite 2,7-diaminomitosene in EMT6 mouse mammary tumor cells treated with mitomycin C. *Oncol. Res.* 10, 509–521.

(136) Palom, Y., Belcourt, M. F., Musser, S. M., Sartorelli, A. C., Rockwell, S., and Tomasz, M. (2000) Structure of adduct X, the last unknown of the six major DNA adducts of mitomycin C formed in EMT6 mouse mammary tumor cells. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 13, 479–488.

(137) Palom, Y., Belcourt, M. F., Tang, L. Q., Mehta, S. S., Sartorelli, A. C., Pritsos, C. A., Pritsos, K. L., Rockwell, S., and Tomasz, M. (2001) Bioreductive metabolism of mitomycin C in EMT6 mouse mammary tumor cells: cytotoxic and non-cytotoxic pathways, leading to different types of DNA adducts. The effect of dicumarol. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 61, 1517–1529.

(138) Kim, S. Y., and Rockwell, S. (1995) Cytotoxic potential of monoalkylation products between mitomycins and DNA: studies of decarbamoyl mitomycin C in wild-type and repair-deficient cell lines. *Oncol. Res.* 7, 39–47.

(139) Neels, J. F., Gong, J., Yu, X., and Sturla, S. J. (2007) Quantitative correlation of drug bioactivation and deoxyadenosine alkylation by acylfulvene. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 20, 1513–1519.

(140) Gong, J., Vaidyanathan, V. G., Yu, X., Kensler, T. W., Peterson, L. A., and Sturla, S. J. (2007) Depurinating acylfulvene-DNA adducts: characterizing cellular chemical reactions of a selective antitumor agent. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129, 2101–2111.

(141) Pietsch, K. E., van Midwoud, P. M., Villalta, P. W., and Sturla, S. J. (2013) Quantification of Acylfulvene- and Illudin S-DNA Adducts in Cells with Variable Bioactivation Capacities. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 26, 146–155.

(142) Koeppel, F., Poindessous, V., Lazar, V., Raymond, E., Sarasin, A., and Larsen, A. K. (2004) Irofulven cytotoxicity depends on transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair and is correlated with XPG expression in solid tumor cells. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10, 5604–5613.

(143) Jaspers, N. G., Raams, A., Kelner, M. J., Ng, J. M., Yamashita, Y. M., Takeda, S., McMorris, T. C., and Hoeijmakers, J. H. (2002) Antitumour compounds illudin S and Irofulven induce DNA lesions ignored by global repair and exclusively processed by transcriptionand replication-coupled repair pathways. *DNA Repair 1*, 1027–1038.

(144) Kelner, M. J., McMorris, T. C., Estes, L., Rutherford, M., Montoya, M., Goldstein, J., Samson, K., Starr, R., and Taetle, R. (1994) Characterization of illudin S sensitivity in DNA repair-deficient Chinese hamster cells. Unusually high sensitivity of ERCC2 and ERCC3 DNA helicase-deficient mutants in comparison to other chemotherapeutic agents. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 48, 403–409.

(145) Tanasova, M., and Sturla, S. J. (2012) Chemistry and biology of acylfulvenes: sesquiterpene-derived antitumor agents. *Chem. Rev.* 112, 3578–3610.

(146) Otto, C., Spivak, G., Aloisi, C. M. N., Menigatti, M., Naegeli, H., Hanawalt, P. C., Tanasova, M., and Sturla, S. J. (2017) Modulation of cytotoxicity by transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair is independent of the requirement for bioactivation of acylfulvene. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.*, accepted for publication.

(147) van Midwoud, P. M., and Sturla, S. J. (2013) Improved efficacy of acylfulvene in colon cancer cells when combined with a nuclear excision repair inhibitor. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 26, 1674–1682.

(148) Neidle, S. (2001) DNA minor-groove recognition by small molecules. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 18, 291–309.

(149) Gao, X. L., Mirau, P., and Patel, D. J. (1992) Structure refinement of the chromomycin dimer-DNA oligomer complex in solution. *J. Mol. Biol.* 223, 259–279.

(150) Ugarenko, M., Nudelman, A., Rephaeli, A., Kimura, K., Phillips, D. R., and Cutts, S. M. (2010) ABT-737 overcomes Bcl-2 mediated resistance to doxorubicin-DNA adducts. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 79, 339–349.

(151) Swift, L. P., Cutts, S. M., Nudelman, A., Levovich, I., Rephaeli, A., and Phillips, D. R. (2008) The cardio-protecting agent and topoisomerase II catalytic inhibitor sobuzoxane enhances doxorubicin-DNA adduct mediated cytotoxicity. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 61, 739–749.

(152) David-Cordonnier, M. H., Laine, W., Joubert, A., Tardy, C., Goossens, J. F., Kouach, M., Briand, G., Thi Mai, H. D., Michel, S., Tillequin, F., Koch, M., Leonce, S., Pierre, A., and Bailly, C. (2003) Covalent binding to glutathione of the DNA-alkylating antitumor agent, S23906–1. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 270, 2848–2859.

(153) Thi Mai, H. D., Gaslonde, T., Michel, S., Tillequin, F., Koch, M., Bongui, J. B., Elomri, A., Seguin, E., Pfeiffer, B., Renard, P., David-Cordonnier, M. H., Laine, W., Bailly, C., Kraus-Berthier, L., Leonce, S., Hickman, J. A., and Pierre, A. (2003) Structure-activity relationships and mechanism of action of antitumor benzo[b]pyrano[3,2-h]acridin-7-one acronycine analogues. J. Med. Chem. 46, 3072–3082.

(154) Casado, J. A., Rio, P., Marco, E., Garcia-Hernandez, V., Domingo, A., Perez, L., Tercero, J. C., Vaquero, J. J., Albella, B., Gago, F., and Bueren, J. A. (2008) Relevance of the Fanconi anemia pathway in the response of human cells to trabectedin. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 7, 1309–1318.

(155) Gewirtz, D. A. (1999) A critical evaluation of the mechanisms of action proposed for the antitumor effects of the anthracycline antibiotics adriamycin and daunorubicin. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 57, 727–741.

(156) Tewey, K. M., Rowe, T. C., Yang, L., Halligan, B. D., and Liu, L. F. (1984) Adriamycin-induced DNA damage mediated by mammalian DNA topoisomerase II. *Science* 226, 466–468.

(157) Swift, L. P., Rephaeli, A., Nudelman, A., Phillips, D. R., and Cutts, S. M. (2006) Doxorubicin-DNA adducts induce a non-topoisomerase II-mediated form of cell death. *Cancer Res.* 66, 4863–4871.

(158) Wang, A. H., Gao, Y. G., Liaw, Y. C., and Li, Y. K. (1991) Formaldehyde cross-links daunorubicin and DNA efficiently: HPLC and X-ray diffraction studies. *Biochemistry* 30, 3812–3815.

(159) Zeman, S. M., Phillips, D. R., and Crothers, D. M. (1998) Characterization of covalent adriamycin-DNA adducts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 95, 11561–11565.

(160) Cullinane, C., and Phillips, D. R. (1990) Induction of stable transcriptional blockage sites by adriamycin: GpC specificity of apparent adriamycin-DNA adducts and dependence on iron(III) ions. *Biochemistry* 29, 5638–5646.

(161) Taatjes, D. J., Gaudiano, G., Resing, K., and Koch, T. H. (1996) Alkylation of DNA by the anthracycline, antitumor drugs adriamycin and daunomycin. *J. Med. Chem.* 39, 4135–4138.

(162) Cutts, S. M., Parker, B. S., Swift, L. P., Kimura, K. I., and Phillips, D. R. (2000) Structural requirements for the formation of anthracycline-DNA adducts. *Anti-Cancer Drug Des.* 15, 373–386.

(163) Cutts, S. M., Swift, L. P., Rephaeli, A., Nudelman, A., and Phillips, D. R. (2005) Recent advances in understanding and exploiting the activation of anthracyclines by formaldehyde. *Curr. Med. Chem.: Anti-Cancer Agents 5*, 431–447.

(164) Johnstone, E. C., Lind, M. J., Griffin, M. J., and Boddy, A. V. (2000) Ifosfamide metabolism and DNA damage in tumour and

peripheral blood lymphocytes of breast cancer patients. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 46, 433–441.

(165) David-Cordonnier, M. H., Laine, W., Lansiaux, A., Kouach, M., Briand, G., Pierre, A., Hickman, J. A., and Bailly, C. (2002) Alkylation of guanine in DNA by S23906–1, a novel potent antitumor compound derived from the plant alkaloid acronycine. *Biochemistry* 41, 9911– 9920.

(166) Bosken, C. H., Wei, Q., Amos, C. I., and Spitz, M. R. (2002) An analysis of DNA repair as a determinant of survival in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute 94*, 1091–1099.

(167) Welters, M. J., Braakhuis, B. J., Jacobs-Bergmans, A. J., Kegel, A., Baan, R. A., van der Vijgh, W. J., and Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M. (1999) The potential of plantinum-DNA adduct determination in ex vivo treated tumor fragments for the prediction of sensitivity to cisplatin chemotherapy. *Annals of oncology: official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology/ESMO 10*, 97–103.

(168) Welters, M. J., Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., Baan, R. A., Jacobs-Bergmans, A. J., Kegel, A., van der Vijgh, W. J., and Braakhuis, B. J. (1999) Pharmacodynamics of cisplatin in human head and neck cancer: correlation between platinum content, DNA adduct levels and drug sensitivity in vitro and in vivo. *Br. J. Cancer* 79, 82–88.

(169) Johnson, S. W., Laub, P. B., Beesley, J. S., Ozols, R. F., and Hamilton, T. C. (1997) Increased platinum-DNA damage tolerance is associated with cisplatin resistance and cross-resistance to various chemotherapeutic agents in unrelated human ovarian cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 57, 850–856.

(170) Meijer, C., deVries, E. G. E., Dam, W. A., Wilkinson, M. H. F., Hollema, H., Hoekstra, H. J., and Mulder, N. H. (1997) Immunocytochemical analysis of cisplatin-induced platinum-DNA adducts with double-fluorescence video microscopy. *Br. J. Cancer 76*, 290–298.

(171) Armstrong, S. G., Browman, G. P., Benger, A. M., Meyer, R. M., McKay, K. L., and Singh, G. (1994) Relation between platinum-DNA adducts and complete remission in adult acute nonlymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk. Res.* 18, 659–664.

(172) Johnson, S. W., Swiggard, P. A., Handel, L. M., Brennan, J. M., Godwin, A. K., Ozols, R. F., and Hamilton, T. C. (1994) Relationship between platinum-DNA adduct formation and removal and cisplatin cytotoxicity in cisplatin-sensitive and -resistant human ovarian cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 54, 5911–5916.

(173) Shellard, S. A., Hosking, L. K., and Hill, B. T. (1991) Anomalous relationship between cisplatin sensitivity and the formation and removal of platinum-DNA adducts in two human ovarian carcinoma cell lines in vitro. *Cancer Res.* 51, 4557–4564.

(174) Terheggen, P. M., Emondt, J. Y., Floot, B. G., Dijkman, R., Schrier, P. I., den Engelse, L., and Begg, A. C. (1990) Correlation between cell killing by cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) in six mammalian cell lines and binding of a cis-diamminedichloroplatinum-(II)-DNA antiserum. *Cancer Res. 50*, 3556–3561.

(175) Bedford, P., Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., Shellard, S. A., Walker, M. C., Masters, J. R., and Hill, B. T. (1988) Differential repair of platinum-DNA adducts in human bladder and testicular tumor continuous cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 48, 3019–3024.

(176) Plooy, A. C., van Dijk, M., and Lohman, P. H. (1984) Induction and repair of DNA cross-links in chinese hamster ovary cells treated with various platinum coordination compounds in relation to platinum binding to DNA, cytotoxicity, mutagenicity, and antitumor activity. *Cancer Res.* 44, 2043–2051.

(177) Laurent, G., Erickson, L. C., Sharkey, N. A., and Kohn, K. W. (1981) DNA cross-linking and cytotoxicity induced by cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II) in human normal and tumor cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 41, 3347–3351.

(178) Terheggen, P. M., Begg, A. C., Emondt, J. Y., Dubbelman, R., Floot, B. G., and den Engelse, L. (1991) Formation of interaction products of carboplatin with DNA in vitro and in cancer patients. *Br. J. Cancer* 63, 195–200.

(179) Boamah, E. K., Brekman, A., Tomasz, M., Myeku, N., Figueiredo-Pereira, M., Hunter, S., Meyer, J., Bhosle, R. C., and Bargonetti, J. (2010) DNA adducts of decarbamoyl mitomycin C efficiently kill cells without wild-type p53 resulting from proteasomemediated degradation of checkpoint protein 1. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 23, 1151–1162.

(180) Boamah, E. K., White, D. E., Talbott, K. E., Arva, N. C., Berman, D., Tomasz, M., and Bargonetti, J. (2007) Mitomycin-DNA adducts induce p53-dependent and p53-independent cell death pathways. *ACS Chem. Biol.* 2, 399–407.

(181) Passagne, I., Evrard, A., Winum, J. Y., Depeille, P., Cuq, P., Montero, J. L., Cupissol, D., and Vian, L. (2003) Cytotoxicity, DNA damage, and apoptosis induced by new fotemustine analogs on human melanoma cells in relation to O-6-methylguanine DNA-methyltransferase expression. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 307, 816–823.

(182) Adema, A. D., van der Born, K., Honeywell, R. J., and Peters, G. J. (2009) Cell cycle effects and increased adduct formation by Temozolomide enhance the effect of cytotoxic and targeted agents in lung cancer cell lines. *J. Chemother.* 21, 338–346.

(183) Terheggen, P. M., Floot, B. G., Scherer, E., Begg, A. C., Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., and den Engelse, L. (1987) Immunocytochemical detection of interaction products of cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II) and cis-diammine(1,1cyclobutanedicarboxylato)platinum(II) with DNA in rodent tissue sections. *Cancer Res.* 47, 6719-6725.

(184) Hoebers, F. J., Pluim, D., Hart, A. A., Verheij, M., Balm, A. J., Fons, G., Rasch, C. R., Schellens, J. H., Stalpers, L. J., Bartelink, H., and Begg, A. C. (2008) Cisplatin-DNA adduct formation in patients treated with cisplatin-based chemoradiation: lack of correlation between normal tissues and primary tumor. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 61, 1075–1081.

(185) Bartelink, H., Begg, A. C., Martin, J. C., van Dijk, M., Moonen, L., van 't Veer, L. J., Van de Vaart, P., and Verheij, M. (2000) Translational research offers individually tailored treatments for cancer patients. *Cancer J. Sci. Am.* 6, 2–10.

(186) Schellens, J. H., Ma, J., Planting, A. S., van der Burg, M. E., van Meerten, E., de Boer-Dennert, M., Schmitz, P. I., Stoter, G., and Verweij, J. (1996) Relationship between the exposure to cisplatin, DNA-adduct formation in leucocytes and tumour response in patients with solid tumours. *Br. J. Cancer* 73, 1569–1575.

(187) Parker, R., Dimery, I., Dabholkar, M., Vionnet, J., and Reed, E. (1993) Platinum-DNA adduct in head and neck-cancer patients receiving Cisplatin and Carboplatin chemotherapy. *Int. J. Oncol.* 3, 331–335.

(188) Blommaert, F. A., Michael, C., Terheggen, P. M., Muggia, F. M., Kortes, V., Schornagel, J. H., Hart, A. A., and den Engelse, L. (1993) Drug-induced DNA modification in buccal cells of cancer patients receiving carboplatin and cisplatin combination chemo-therapy, as determined by an immunocytochemical method: interindividual variation and correlation with disease response. *Cancer Res.* 53, 5669–5675.

(189) Parker, R. J., Gill, I., Tarone, R., Vionnet, J. A., Grunberg, S., Muggia, F. M., and Reed, E. (1991) Platinum—DNA damage in leukocyte DNA of patients receiving carboplatin and cisplatin chemotherapy, measured by atomic absorption spectrometry. *Carcinogenesis* 12, 1253–1258.

(190) Stornetta, A., Villalta, P. W., Gossner, F., Wilson, W. R., Balbo, S., and Sturla, S. J. (2017) DNA adduct profiles predict in vitro cell viability after treatment with the experimental anticancer prodrug PR104A. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.*, in revision.